

# Estimates of solutions of elliptic equations with a source reaction term involving the product of the function and its gradient

Laurent Veron, Marie-Françoise Bidaut-Veron, Marta Garcia-Huidobro, Marie-Françoise Bidaut-Véron

# ▶ To cite this version:

Laurent Veron, Marie-Françoise Bidaut-Veron, Marta Garcia-Huidobro, Marie-Françoise Bidaut-Véron. Estimates of solutions of elliptic equations with a source reaction term involving the product of the function and its gradient. 2017. hal-01651511v1

# HAL Id: hal-01651511 https://hal.science/hal-01651511v1

Preprint submitted on 30 Nov 2017 (v1), last revised 15 Dec 2018 (v3)

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# Estimates of solutions of elliptic equations with a source reaction term involving the product of the function and its gradient

## Marie-Françoise Bidaut-Véron Marta Garcia-Huidobro Laurent Véron

Abstract We study local and global properties of positive solutions of  $-\Delta u = u^p |\nabla u|^q$  in a domain  $\Omega$  of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , in the range p+q > 1,  $p \ge 0$ ,  $0 \le q < 2$ . We first prove local Harnack inequality and nonexistence of positive solutions in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  when p(N-2)+q(N-1) < N or in an exterior domain if p(N-2)+q(N-1) < N and  $0 \le q < 1$ . Using a direct Bernstein method we obtain a first range of values of p and q in which  $u(x) \le c(\operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)^{\frac{q-2}{p+q-1}}$  This holds in particular if  $p+q < 1+\frac{4}{n-1}$ . Using an integral Bernstein method we obtain a wider range of values of p and q in which all the global solutions are constants. Our result contains Gidas and Spruck nonexistence result as a particular case. We also study solutions under the form  $u(x) = r^{\frac{q-2}{p+q-1}}\omega(\sigma)$ . We prove existence, nonexistence and rigidity of the spherical component  $\omega$  in some range of values of N, p and q.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. 35J62, 35B08, 6804. Key words. elliptic equations; Bernstein methods; gradient estimates; global solutions; bifurcations.

# Contents

| 1        | Introduction                                 | 1        |
|----------|--|----------|
| <b>2</b> | Local estimates                              | <b>5</b> |
|          | 2.1 The subcritical case: Proof of Theorem A | 5        |
|          | 2.2 Proof of Theorem B                       | 12       |
| 3        | Global solutions                             | 18       |
|          | 3.1 Radial solutions                         | 18       |
|          | 3.2 Proof of Theorem C                       | 19       |
| 4        | Separable solutions                          | 30       |
|          | 4.1 Uniform bounds: Proof of Theorem D       | 30       |
|          | 4.2 Rigidity and symmetry                    | 33       |
|          | 4.3 Bifurcation                              | 35       |

# 5 Appendix385.1 Position of the problem385.2 Proof that $m_0 < 0$ for $h \in [0, 2(N-1)]$ 385.3 Proof that $m_0 + 2 + h > 0$ for $h \in (0, 2(N-1)]$ 415.4 Proof that $\sigma > \frac{N}{2}$ for $N \ge 3$ 435.5 Comparison of the regions of Theorem B and Theorem C44

## 1 Introduction

The aim of this article is to study local and global properties of positive solutions of the following type of equations

$$-\Delta u = u^p \left|\nabla u\right|^q,\tag{1.1}$$

in  $\Omega \setminus \{0\}$  where  $\Omega$  is an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  containing 0, p and q are real exponents. In many cases we will assume the superlinearity of the right-hand side, i.e. p + q - 1 > 0 and  $0 \le q \le 2$ . Equation (1.1) is invariant under the action of the transformations  $T_{\sigma}$  defined for  $\sigma > 0$  by

$$T_{\sigma}[u](x) = \sigma^{\frac{2-q}{p+q-1}}u(\sigma x).$$
(1.2)

If we look for radial positive solutions under the form  $u(x) = \Lambda |x|^{-\gamma}$  we find, if q < 2 and p + q - 1 > 0,  $\gamma := \gamma_{p,q} = \frac{2-q}{p+q-1}$  and

$$\Lambda := \Lambda_{N,p,q} = \gamma_{p,q}^{\frac{1-q}{p+q-1}} \left( N - \frac{2p+q}{p+q-1} \right)^{\frac{1}{p+q-1}}.$$
(1.3)

However this last quantity exists if and only if the exponents belong to the *supercritical range*, that is when

$$(N-2)p + (N-1)q > N.$$
(1.4)

In the *subcritical range* of exponents i.e. when

$$(N-2)p + (N-1)q < N, (1.5)$$

we prove in Theorem 2.1 that Serrin's classical results (see [16], [17]) can be applied. We obtain a local Harnack inequality and an *a priori* estimate for positive solution u in  $B_R \setminus \{0\}$  under the form

$$u(x) + |x| |\nabla u(x)| \le c |x|^{2-N} \quad \forall x \text{ s.t. } 0 < |x| \le \frac{R}{2},$$
 (1.6)

with a constant c depending on u. We also prove the following surprising result:

**Theorem A** Let  $N \ge 2$ ,  $p \ge 0$  and  $0 \le q < 1$  satisfy (1.5). If u is a nonnegative  $C^1$  function in an exterior domain  $\Omega = B_R^c$ , where it satisfies

$$-\Delta u \ge u^p \, |\nabla u|^q \,, \tag{1.7}$$

then there exists R' > R such that u is constant in  $B_{R'}^c$ .

Furthermore such solutions truly exist as the radial case shows it (see Theorem 2.3). When q = 0, it is known since the last millenium that any nonnegative solution of (1.7) is zero, however the proof in that case is straightforward since the spherical average of a solution satisfies the same inequality (see [9] in the radial case). If  $B_R^c$  is replaced by  $\mathbb{R}^N$  the fact that all nonnegative functions satisfying (1.7) are constant is due to Mitidieri and Pohozaev [15]. For the sake of completeness we give a slightly different proof which introduces the techniques we developed throughout our article.

Our main results deal with the supercritical range. We prove a priori estimates of positive solutions of (1.1) in a punctured domain and existence of ground states in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . There are two approaches for obtaining these results. The *direct Bernstein method* and the *integral Bernstein method* popularized by Lions [14] and Gidas and Spruck in [10] respectively. Both methods are based upon differentiating the equation. The direct Bernstein method relies on obtaining pointwise estimates of the gradient through comparison principles via algebraic computations, an intensive use of Young's inequality and without any integration. Our main result in this framework is the following:

**Theorem B** Let  $N \ge 2$ ,  $0 \le q < 2$  and  $p \ge 0$  be such that p + q - 1 > 0. If u is a positive solution of (1.1) in  $B_R$  and one of the following assumptions is fulfilled,

(i) 
$$p + q - 1 < \frac{4}{N-1}$$
,  
(ii)  $0 \le p < 1$  and  $p + q - 1 < \frac{(p+1)^2}{p(N-1)}$ .  
Then there exist positive constants  $a = a(N, p, q)$  and  $c_1 = c_1(N, p, q)$  such that

$$|\nabla u^{a}(0)| \le c_1 R^{-1-a\frac{2-q}{p+q-1}}.$$
(1.8)

The value of the exponent a is not easy to compute, however, in several applications this difficulty can be bypassed. As a consequence of (1.8) there holds,

**Corollary B-1** Under the assumptions on N, p and q of Theorem B, any positive solution of (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is constant.

Another consequence is the following,

**Corollary B-2** Let  $\Omega$  be a smooth domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \ge 2$ , with a bounded boundary,  $0 \le q < 2$ and  $p \ge 0$  such that p+q-1 > 0 and assume one of the assumptions (i)-(ii) of Theorem B holds. If u is a positive solution of (1.1) in  $\Omega$  there exists  $d_0 > 0$  depending on  $\Omega$  and  $c_2 = c_2(N, p, q) > 0$ such that

$$u(x) \le c_2 \left( (\text{dist}(x, \partial \Omega))^{-\frac{2-q}{p+q-1}} + \max\{u(z) : \text{dist}(z, \Omega) = d_0\} \right).$$
(1.9)

The aim of the integral Bernstein method is to obtain estimates of the  $L^r$ -norm of the gradient of the solutions in balls for r large enough. Combined with [16] this leads in [10] to Harnack inequality. Here we use these integral estimates to prove the non-existence of non-constant global solutions. **Theorem C** Assume  $p \ge 0$ ,  $0 \le q < 2$  and define the polynomial G by

$$G(p,q) = ((N-1)^2 q + N - 2) p^2 + b(q)p - Nq^2,$$
  
where  $b(q) = N(N-1)q^2 - (N^2 + N - 1)q - N - 2.$  (1.10)

If the couple (p,q) satisfies the inequality G(p,q) < 0, then all the positive solutions of (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  are constant.

In the range of p and q, the condition  $G_N(p,q) < 0$  is equivalent to

$$0 \le p < p_c(q) := \frac{-b(q) + \sqrt{b^2(q) + 4Nq^2\left((N-1)^2q + N - 2\right)}}{2\left((N-1)^2q + N - 2\right)}.$$
(1.11)

If q = 0, the above reads reads

$$0 \le p < p_c(0) := \frac{N+2}{N-2},\tag{1.12}$$

which is the well known condition obtained by Gidas and Spruck in [10]. Furthermore, it can be verified that the domain of (p, q) in which Theorem B applies is included into the set of (p, q)where G(p, q) < 0. Our proof is extremely technical and necessitates a long appendix in which many algebraic computations are carried out.

If we just look for radial solutions we present in Theorem 3.1 an optimal result namely: **Theorem D** There exist non-constant radial positive solutions of (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  if and only if  $p \ge 0, 0 \le q < 1$  and

$$p(N-2) + q(N-1) \ge N + \frac{2-q}{1-q}.$$
 (1.13)

If equality holds in (1.13), there exists an explicit one parameter family of positive radial solutions of (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  under the form

$$u_c(r) = c \left( K c^{\frac{(2-q)^2}{(N-2)(1-q)}} + r^{\frac{2-q}{1-q}} \right)^{-\frac{(N-2)(1-q)}{2-q}},$$
(1.14)

for any c > 0 and some K = K(N,q) > 0.

In the last section we study the singular separable solutions of (1.1) written under the form

$$u(x) = u(r,\sigma) = r^{-\gamma_{p,q}}\omega(\sigma) \qquad (r,\sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times S^{N-1}.$$
(1.15)

Then  $\omega$  satisfies the following nonlinear equation on  $S^{N-1}$ 

$$-\Delta'\omega + \gamma_{p,q}\left(N - \frac{2p+q}{p+q-1}\right)\omega - |\omega|^{p-1}\omega\left(\gamma_{p,q}^2\omega^2 + \left|\nabla'\omega\right|^2\right)^{\frac{q}{2}} = 0, \quad (1.16)$$

where  $\nabla'$  and  $\Delta'$  are respectively the covariant gradient and the Laplace Beltrami operator on  $S^{N-1}$ . It is clear by integration that condition (1.4) is a necessary and sufficient condition for

the existence of solution, and the constant function  $\Lambda_{N,p,q}$  is such a solution. We introduce a more general equation on  $S^{N-1}$ 

$$-\Delta'\omega + \mu\omega - |\omega|^{p-1}\omega\left(\gamma^2\omega^2 + |\nabla'\omega|^2\right)^{\frac{q}{2}} = 0, \qquad (1.17)$$

where  $\mu$  and  $\gamma$  are positive real numbers. We have the following universal estimate.

**Theorem F** Assume  $0 \le q < 2$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{R}$  such that p + q - 1 > 0. If

$$p(N-3) + q(N-2) < N-1, (1.18)$$

holds, there exists  $c_4 = c_4(N, p, q) > 0$  and a = a(N, p, q) > 0 such that for  $\gamma, \mu > 0$ , any solution  $\omega$  of (1.17) on  $S^{N-1}$  satisfies

$$\|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}} \le c_4 \mu^a \gamma^{-\frac{q}{p+q-1}}.$$
(1.19)

We also give a rigidity result which shows that the solutions which are not too far from being constant are indeed constant.

**Theorem F** Assume  $p \ge 0$  and p + q - 1 > 0. Let  $\omega$  be a solution of (1.17) satisfying

$$c_2^2 \le \gamma^2 \omega^2 + \left|\nabla'\omega\right|^2 \le c_1^2,\tag{1.20}$$

for some  $c_1 > c_2 > 0$  and set

$$c_* = \begin{cases} c_1^{p+q-1} & \text{if } p \ge 1\\ c_2^{p-1}c_1^q & \text{if } 0 \le p < 1. \end{cases}$$
(1.21)

If

$$c_* \le \frac{2(N-1+\mu)\gamma^p}{q\sqrt{N-1}+2(p+q)\gamma},$$
(1.22)

#### then $\omega$ is constant.

In the Appendix we present many technical algebraic computations which leads to the delimitation of the regions of the (p,q)-plane in which Theorem C holds. Many computations can be easily verified by using Maple. Throughout the paper c denotes a generic constant depending on some parameters, specified in some cases, the value of which may change from one occurrence to another.

Acknowledgements This article has been prepared with the support of the collaboration programs ECOS C14E08 and FONDECYT grant 1160540 for the three authors.

## 2 Local estimates

#### 2.1 The subcritical case: Proof of Theorem A

We show how the use of Serrin's result concerning Harnack inequality yields a blow-up estimate of any positive solution u of (1.1) in a punctured domain.

**Theorem 2.1** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$  be a domain containing 0,  $N \geq 3$ ,  $p \geq 0$ ,  $0 \leq q \leq 2$  and (1.5) holds. If  $u \in C^2(\Omega \setminus \{0\})$  is a positive solution of (1.1) in  $\Omega \setminus \{0\}$ , then estimate (1.6) holds in a neighborhood of 0.

*Proof.* Assume  $\overline{B}_1 \subset \Omega$ . By Brezis-Lions's result [6] there holds

$$u \in M^{\frac{N}{N-2}}(B_1), \ \nabla u \in M^{\frac{N}{N-1}}(B_1), \ u^p |\nabla u|^q \in L^1(B_1),$$
 (2.1)

where  $M^r = L^{r,\infty}$  denotes the Marcinkiewicz space or Lorentz space of index  $(r,\infty)$ , and there exists  $\alpha \ge 0$  such that

$$-\Delta u = u^p |\nabla u|^q + \alpha \delta_0 \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}(B_1).$$
(2.2)

We assume first  $pq \neq 0$ . In order to fit with Serrin's formalism, we write  $u^p |\nabla u|^q = \mathcal{B}(u, \nabla u)$ . Hence  $\mathcal{B}$  satisfies the estimate

$$|\mathcal{B}(u,\nabla u)| \le |u|^{p\theta} + |\nabla u|^{q\theta'} = c |u| + d |\nabla u|, \qquad (2.3)$$

where  $\theta, \theta' \geq 1$ ,  $\frac{1}{\theta} + \frac{1}{\theta'} = 1$ ,  $c = |u|^{p\theta-1}$ ,  $d = |\nabla u|^{q\theta'-1}$ . If  $\theta > \max\{1, \frac{1}{p}\}$  and  $\theta' > \max\{1, \frac{1}{q}\}$ , then  $c \in M^{\frac{N}{(N-2)(p\theta-1)}}$  and  $d \in M^{\frac{N}{(N-1)(q\theta'-1)}}$ . We claim that we can choose  $\theta > 1$  such that

$$\frac{N}{(N-2)(p\theta-1)} > \frac{N}{2} \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{N}{(N-1)(q\theta'-1)} > N.$$
(2.4)

These inequalities are respectively equivalent to

$$\theta < \frac{N}{p(N-2)} \quad \text{and} \quad \theta' < \frac{N}{q(N-1)},$$
(2.5)

which is clearly possible from (1.5) by taking  $\theta = \frac{N(1-\epsilon)}{p(N-2)}$  for  $\epsilon > 0$  small enough. Because  $M^r(B_1) \subset L^{r-\delta}(B_1)$  for any  $\delta > 0$ , we infer that  $c \in L^{\frac{N}{2}+\delta}(B_1)$  and  $c \in L^{N+\delta}(B_1)$  and u verifies Harnack inequality in  $B \setminus \{0\}$  by [16, Th 5]. This implies

$$\max_{|x|=r} u(x) \le K \min_{|x|=r} u(x) \quad \forall r \in (0, \frac{1}{2}].$$
(2.6)

The spherical average  $\bar{u}$  of u on  $\{x:|x|=0\}$  is superharmonic. Hence there exists some  $m\geq 0$  such that

$$\bar{u}(r) = mr^{2-N}.\tag{2.7}$$

Combined with (2.6) it yields  $u(x) \leq Km |x|^{2-N}$ . The estimate on the gradient is standard, see eg [19, Lemma 3.3.2].

*Remark.* Estimate (1.6) is not universal since the constant K in (2.6) depends on the norms of c and d which could depend not only on N, p, q, but on the solution itself.

The following result is not new, except in the case p = 0, q = 1. It was proved in [15, Th 15.1] for p+q-1 > 0 and extended to quasilinear operator by simulating the change of unknown  $u = v^b$ . It was used in order to derive a priori estimates [4]. Later on it was extended to more general operator in [8] where the new cases p + q - 1 < 0 and p + q - 1 = 0 with p > 0 have been considered using a delicate proof. We give here a very general but general proof of all these results. Furthermore our method highlights the role of change of unknown function and which forshadows the method used in Theorem B, is also extendeable to very general quasilinear operators such as

$$-divA(x, u, \nabla u) \ge B(x, u, \nabla u) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N,$$
(2.8)

under the assumptions that  $\langle A(x,r,\xi),\xi\rangle \geq |\xi|^m$ ,  $B(x,r,\xi)r \leq c |r|^p |\xi|^q$ , and under the corresponding subcritical condition p(N-m) + q(N-1) < N(p-1).

**Theorem 2.2** Assume  $N \ge 3$ , p and q are nonnegative and (1.5) holds. Then the only positive functions  $u \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  satisfying

$$-\Delta u \ge u^p \, |\nabla u|^q \,, \tag{2.9}$$

in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  are the constants.

*Proof.* Assume u is such a solution. For  $p + q \neq 1$ , we set  $u = v^b$  with b(b-1) > 0.

$$-b\Delta v \ge b(b-1)\frac{|\nabla v|^2}{v} + |b|^q v^s \, |\nabla v|^q \,,$$

with

$$s = 1 - q + b(p + q - 1).$$

If s > 0, then from Hölder's inequality,

$$|\nabla v|^{\frac{2s+q}{s+1}} = \left(\frac{|\nabla v|^2}{v}\right)^{\frac{s}{s+1}} v^{\frac{s}{s+1}} |\nabla v|^{\frac{q}{s+1}} \le \delta^{\frac{s+1}{s}} \frac{|\nabla v|^2}{v} + \delta^{-1-s} v^s |\nabla v|^q,$$

for any  $\delta > 0$ . Hence, by choosing  $\delta$ , we see that there exists c > 0 such that

$$-b\Delta v \ge c |\nabla v|^{\omega}$$
 where  $\omega = \frac{2s+q}{s+1} = \frac{2-q+2b(p+q-1)}{2-q+b(p+q-1)}$ . (2.10)

(i) In the case p + q - 1 > 0, we take  $b = 1 + \epsilon$ , for  $\epsilon > 0$ . Then  $s = p + \epsilon(p + q - 1) > 0$ , and s > 1 - q, thus  $\omega > 1$ . Form assumption (1.5) we can take  $\epsilon > 0$  small enough such that (N - 2)s + (N - 1)q < N, which is equivalent to  $\omega < \frac{N}{N-1}$ .

(ii) If p + q - 1 < 0, hence  $0 \le q < 1$ , we take  $b = -\epsilon$ , for  $\epsilon > 0$ . Then

$$-|b|\Delta v + c |\nabla v|^{\omega} \le 0, \quad \text{where } c > 0.$$
(2.11)

and  $s = 1 - q - \epsilon(p + q - 1)) > 1 - q > 0$ . hence  $\omega = 1 - \frac{p+q-1}{2-q} > 1$  and we can choose  $\epsilon$  small enough such that  $\omega < \frac{N}{N-1}$ .

(iii) If p + q - 1 = 0, we set  $u = e^v$  (where v is a signed function) and derive that for any  $\tilde{\omega} \in (q, 2)$  one can find  $\tilde{c} > 0$  such that

$$-\Delta v \ge |\nabla v|^2 + e^{p+q-1} |\nabla v|^q \ge \tilde{c} |\nabla v|^{\tilde{\omega}}$$

We can take in particular  $\tilde{\omega} < \frac{N}{N-1}.$ 

Finally, let R > 0 and  $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , with values in [0, 1], such that  $\zeta = 1$  on  $B_{\frac{R}{2}}$ ,  $\zeta = 0$  on  $B_R^c$  and  $|\nabla \zeta| \leq 2R^{-1}$ . Then, in each of the three cases, there exists  $c_1 > 0$  such that

$$\begin{split} \int_{B_R} \zeta^{\omega'} |\nabla v|^{\omega} \, dx &\leq c_1 \left| \int_{B_R} \langle \nabla v, \nabla \zeta \rangle \zeta^{\omega'-1} dx \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{B_R} \zeta^{\omega'} |\nabla v|^{\omega} \, dx + c_2 \int_{B_R} |\nabla \zeta|^{\omega'} \, dx, \end{split}$$

from which follows

 $\int_{B_R} |\nabla v|^{\omega} \, dx \le 2C \int_{B_R} |\nabla \zeta|^{\omega'} \, dx \le C' R^{N-\omega'}.$ 

which implies the claim since  $\omega' > N$ .

If the inequality (2.10) is considered in an exterior domain, the situation differs according  $0 \le q > 1$  or  $1 \le q < 2$ . The case p = 0 is known for a long time.

**Theorem 2.3** Let  $N \ge 3$ ,  $p \ge 0$ ,  $0 \le q \le 2$  and (1.5) holds in  $G := \overline{B}_1^c$ . (i) If  $0 \le q < 1$  any positive function  $u \in C^1(\overline{G})$  satisfying (2.9) in G is constant on  $B_R^c$  for some  $R \ge 1$ .

(ii) If  $q \ge 1$  there exist positive functions in  $C^1(G)$  satisfying (2.10) in G which are nonconstant on  $B_R^c$  for any R > 1.

*Proof.* In the next two steps we prove (i).

Step 1. The function  $r \mapsto \min\{u(x) : |x| = r\}$  is nondecreasing and the following dichotomy holds:

(ii) either  $r \mapsto \min\{u(x) : |x| = r\}$  is increasing on  $[1, \infty)$ ,

(i) or there exists a minimal  $r_0 \ge 1$  such that u is constant in  $B_{r_0}^c$ .

For proving this claim we use the transformation  $u = v^b$  as in the proof of Theorem 2.2. For  $\tau > 0$  we set

$$\gamma_{\tau}(r) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } r \ge 1 \\ 1 - \frac{(1-r)^2}{2\tau} & \text{if } 1 - \tau \le r \le 1 \\ r & \text{if } r \le 1 - \tau, \end{cases}$$
(2.12)

and for k > 0  $\gamma_{\tau,k}(r) = k \gamma_{\tau}(\frac{r}{\tau})$ . Then

$$\gamma_{\tau,k}'(r) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } r \ge k \\ 1 - \frac{k - k\tau}{k\tau} & \text{if } k(1 - \tau) \le r \le k \\ 1 & \text{if } r \le k(1 - \tau), \end{cases}$$
(2.13)

We put  $v_{\tau,k} = \gamma_{\tau,k}(v)$ . Since  $\gamma_{\tau,k}$  is concave,  $0 \leq \gamma'_{\tau,k} \leq 1$  and  $\omega > 1$ , we derive from (2.10),

$$-\Delta v_{\tau,k} \ge -\gamma_{\tau,k}'(v)\Delta v \ge c \left(\gamma_{\tau,k}'(v)\right)^{1-\omega} |\nabla v_{\tau,k}|^{\omega} \ge c |\nabla v_{\tau,k}|^{\omega}, \qquad (2.14)$$

in  $B_1^c$ . For  $R > 2\rho \ge 2$ , we consider a test function  $\zeta \in C_0^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  with value in [0, 1] such that  $\zeta = 1$  on  $B_{\frac{R}{2}}, \zeta = 0$  in  $B_R^c$  and  $|\nabla \zeta| \le \frac{4}{R}$  and we obtain with the notations of (2.10),

$$c\int_{B_R\setminus B_\rho} \zeta^{\omega'} |\nabla v_{\tau,k}|^{\omega} dx \le \omega' \int_{B_R\setminus B_\rho} \langle \nabla v_{\tau,k}, \nabla \zeta \rangle \zeta^{\omega'-1} dx - \int_{\partial B_\rho} \frac{\partial v_{\tau,k}}{\partial \nu} dS$$
$$\le \frac{c}{2} \int_{B_R} \zeta^{\omega'} |\nabla v_{\tau,k}|^{\omega} dx + C \int_{B_R} |\nabla \zeta|^{\omega'} dx - \int_{\partial B_\rho} \frac{\partial v_{\tau,k}}{\partial \nu} dS,$$

which implies

$$c\int_{B_{\frac{R}{2}}\setminus B_{\rho}} |\nabla v_{\tau,k}|^{\omega} dx \le c(N)R^{N-\omega'} - 2c\int_{\partial B_{\rho}} \frac{\partial v_{\tau,k}}{\partial\nu} dS.$$
(2.15)

Taking b > 1 such that  $\omega' > N$  as in the proof of Theorem 2.2, we derive by letting  $R \to \infty$ ,

$$c \int_{B_{\rho}^{c}} |\nabla v_{\tau,k}k|^{\omega} \, dx \leq -2c \int_{\partial B_{\rho}} \frac{\partial v_{\tau,k}}{\partial \nu} dS.$$
(2.16)

Next we choose  $k < \min\{v(x) : |x| = \rho\}$ . Then there exists  $\tau_0 > 0$  such that  $v_{\tau,k}(x) \equiv k$  for  $\rho - \tau \leq |x| \leq \rho + \tau$  for any  $\tau \in (0, \tau_0]$  by continuity. Hence the right-hand side of (2.16) is zero, which implies that  $v_{\tau,k}$  is constant on  $B_{\rho}^c$  with value k, and this means  $\min\{v(x) : |x| \geq \rho\} > k$ . Letting  $\tau \downarrow 0$  and  $k \uparrow \min\{v(x) : |x| = \rho\}$ , we infer that

$$\inf\{v(x) : |x| \ge \rho\} = \min\{v(x) : |x| = \rho\} \Longrightarrow \inf\{u(x) : |x| \ge \rho\} = \min\{u(x) : |x| = \rho\},$$

since  $z \mapsto z^{\frac{1}{b}}$  is monotone increasing on  $\mathbb{R}_+$ . As a consequence  $\rho \mapsto \min\{u(x) : |x| \ge \rho\}$  is nondecreasing, and if there exists r' > r > 1 such that it is constant on (r, r'), then the minimum of u on  $\overline{B}_r^c$  is achieved at some point  $x_0 \in \overline{B}_r^c$ . Since u is superharmonic it implies that u is locally constant; hence it is constant by connectedness. In case (i),  $\rho \mapsto \min\{u(x) : |x| = \rho\}$  is increasing and if  $x_\rho$  is the point where  $\min\{u(x) : |x| = \rho\} = u(x_\rho)$ , then u is positive in  $\overline{B}_\rho^c$  and in achieves it minimum at  $x_\rho$ . By Hopf boundary lemma in implies

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial n_{x_{\rho}}}(x_{\rho}) > 0 \qquad \text{with} \quad n_{x_{\rho}} = \rho^{-1} x_{\rho}. \tag{2.17}$$

In both cases there holds  $u(x) \ge \min_{|y|=1} u(y) > 0$  and up to a multiplication, we can consider that u is a nonnegative solution of

$$-\Delta u \ge |\nabla u|^q, \qquad (2.18)$$

in  $B_1^c$  with (N-1)q < N.

Step 2: Construction of radial solutions when 0 < q < 1. If v is a radial solution of

$$-\Delta u = |\nabla u|^q \,, \tag{2.19}$$

in  $B_1^c$  it is nondecreasing and satisfies  $-(r^{N-1}u')' = r^{N-1}(u')^q$  in  $(1,\infty)$ . This equation can be explicitely solved by setting  $w(r) = r^{N-1}u'(r)$  which solves  $-w' = r^{(N-1)(1-q)}w^q$  and we get

$$u'(r) = r^{1-N} \left( (u'(1))^{1-q} - \frac{1-q}{N-q(N-1)} \left( r^{N-q(N-1)} - 1 \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{1-q}},$$
(2.20)

as long as  $r < r^*$  for some explicit  $r^*$ . Hence to any a > 0 we denote by  $r_a$  the unique r > 1 such that

$$a^{1-q} = \frac{1-q}{N-q(N-1)} \left( r^{N-q(N-1)} - 1 \right) \Longleftrightarrow r_a = \left( \frac{N-q(N-1)}{1-q} a^{1-q} + 1 \right)^{\frac{1}{N-q(N-1)}}.$$

The mapping  $a \mapsto r_a$  is continuous on  $[0, \infty)$ ,  $C^{\infty}$  on  $(0, \infty)$ , increasing with limit 1 at a = 0 and infinite when  $a \to \infty$ , and if we set

$$\mu_a = \int_1^{r_a} \left( a^{1-q} - \frac{1-q}{N-q(N-1)} \left( s^{N-q(N-1)} - 1 \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{1-q}} s^{1-N} ds,$$
(2.21)

 $a \mapsto \mu_a$  defines a continuous increasing function on  $[0, \infty)$ ,  $C^{\infty}$  on  $(0, \infty)$  with limit 0 at 0 and  $\infty$  at  $\infty$ .

Next, given  $\mu > 0$  and R > 1, the radial solution of the Dirichlet problem

$$-\Delta u = |\nabla u|^q \qquad \text{in } B_R \setminus \overline{B}_1 \\ u = 0 \qquad \text{in } \partial B_1 \\ u = \mu \qquad \text{in } \partial B_R, \qquad (2.22)$$

can be constructed in the following way: Let a > 0 be the unique solution of  $\mu_a = \mu$ . If  $r_a < R$  the solution u of (2.22) is expressed by

$$u(r) = \begin{cases} \int_{1}^{r} \left( a^{1-q} - \frac{1-q}{N-q(N-1)} \left( s^{N-q(N-1)} - 1 \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{1-q}} s^{1-N} ds & \text{if } 0 \le r \le r_a \\ \mu & \text{if } r_a < r \le R. \end{cases}$$
(2.23)

If  $r_a \geq R$ , there holds

$$u(r) = \int_{1}^{r} \left( a^{1-q} - \frac{1-q}{N-q(N-1)} \left( s^{N-q(N-1)} - 1 \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{1-q}} s^{1-N} ds \quad \text{if } 0 \le r \le R.$$
 (2.24)

We also notice that any radial solution v of (2.19) in  $B_1^c$  which satisfies v'(1) < 0 is uniquely determined by Cauchy-Lipchitz theorem. It is decreasing and tends to  $-\infty$  at infinity since it expressed by

$$u(r) = u(1) - \int_{1}^{r} \left( (-u'(1))^{1-q} + \frac{1-q}{N-q(N-1)} \left( r^{N-q(N-1)} - 1 \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{1-q}} s^{1-N} ds \qquad \forall r > 1.$$
(2.25)

At en we prove that all the radial solutions of (2.19) in  $B_1^c$  which are bounded from below have the from (2.23) for some a > 0 with  $R = \infty$ . By Step 1, isuch a solution v is nondecreasing. Since  $u(r) \ge u(1) > 0$ , we set  $w = r^{N-1}u'$  and derive that there holds on the interval I where w > 0,

$$-w' \ge r^{(N-1)(1-q)} u^p w^q \ge r^{(N-1)(1-q)} u^p(1) w^q \Longrightarrow \left(\frac{w^{1-q}}{1-q} + \frac{r^{N-q(N-1)} u^p(1)}{N-q(N-1)}\right)' \le 0.$$

If  $I = (1, \infty)$ , it yields a contradiction by letting  $r \to \infty$ . Hence  $I = (1, r_0)$  and u is constant on  $[r_0, \infty)$ .

Step 3: We first prove (i). Construction of the minorant solution. If u is not constant in  $B_R^c$  for some R > 0 the sequence  $\{\mu_n\}$  defined by  $\mu_n = \min\{u(x) : |x| = n\}$  is increasing. For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $n \ge 2$ , we consider the sequence  $\{u_n\}$  defined by

$$-\Delta u_n = |\nabla u_n|^q \qquad \text{in } \Gamma_{1,n} := B_n \setminus \overline{B}_1$$
  

$$u_n = \mu_1 \qquad \text{on } \partial B_1$$
  

$$u_n = \mu_n \qquad \text{on } \partial B_{r_n}.$$
(2.26)

Using Step 2, we obtain the following expression for  $u_n$ 

$$u_n(|x|) = \mu_1 + \int_1^{|x|} \left( (u'_n(1))^{1-q} - \frac{1-q}{N-q(N-1)} \left( s^{N-q(N-1)} - 1 \right) \right)_+^{\frac{1}{1-q}} s^{1-N} ds.$$
(2.27)

This expression, combined with (2.23) and (2.24) shows that  $n \mapsto u_n(r)$  is eventually increasing for r fixed. Next we compare u and  $u_n$  in  $\Gamma_{1,n}$ . For  $\epsilon > 0$   $u_n - \epsilon$  is smaller than u on  $\partial \Gamma_{1,n}$ . If we assume that for any  $\epsilon > 0$  small enough there does not hold  $u \ge u_n - \epsilon$ , then there exists  $\epsilon_0 > \epsilon$ such that the graphs of u and  $u_n - \epsilon_0$  are tangent at some point  $x_\rho$  such that  $1 < |x_\rho| = \rho < n$ . Since  $u_n$  is radial, there holds

$$u(x_{\rho}) = \min\{u(x) : |x| = \rho\},\$$

and by (2.17),

$$\nabla u(x_{\rho}) = \frac{\partial u}{\partial n_{x_{\rho}}}(x_{\rho})n_{x_{\rho}} = u'_n(\rho)n_{x_{\rho}} \neq 0.$$

Hence we can linearize  $|\nabla u|^q - |\nabla u_n|^q$  near  $x_\rho$  and derive that the function  $w = u - u_n + \epsilon_0$  is nonnegative and satisfies

$$-\Delta w + \langle c(x), \nabla w \rangle \ge 0, \tag{2.28}$$

in  $B_{\delta}(x_{\rho})$  for some  $\delta > 0$  where c(x) is some bounded vector field. Hence w is constant in this ball. By connectedness we derive that w = 0 in  $\Gamma_{1,n}$ , contradiction. Letting  $\epsilon \to 0$  we obtain that  $u \ge u_n$  in  $\Gamma_{1,n}$ . Furthermore since  $u_n$  is positive and super-harmonic in  $\Gamma_{1,n}$  it satisfies for any  $n \ge 2$ ,

$$u_n(x) \ge u_{0,n}(x) := \frac{\mu_1 - \mu_n}{1 - n^{2-N}} |x|^{2-N} + \frac{\mu_n - n^{2-N}\mu_1}{1 - n^{2-N}} \quad \forall 1 \le |x| \le n.$$
(2.29)

Hence, letting  $n \to \infty$  we infer that  $u_n$  increases and converges locally uniformly as well as its gradient to a positive radial solution  $u_{\infty}$  of (2.19) in  $B_1^c$  which satisfies  $0 \le u_{\infty} \le u$ , is nondecreasing and satisfies

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} u_{\infty}(r) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_n = \mu_{\infty}.$$
(2.30)

If  $\mu_{\infty} = \infty$ , it would implies that  $u_{\infty}(1) = \infty$  by formula (2.21) which is not compatible with  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial n_{x_{\rho}}}(x_{\rho}) \ge u'_{\infty}(1)$  since u is  $C^1$ . Hence  $\mu_{\infty} < \infty$ . Since by Step 2 any radial solution of (2.19) in  $B_1^c$  is constant is  $B_R^c$  for some R > 1 it implies that  $u_{\infty}$  endows this property. Furthermore since  $u_n(n) = \mu_n$  and  $u_{\infty}$  is nondecreasing it yields  $u_{\infty}(r) = \mu_{\infty}$  for  $r \ge R$ . This contradicts the fact that for n > R,

$$\mu_{\infty} = u_{\infty}(n) \le u(n) = \mu_n < u(n+1) = \mu_{n+1} < \mu_{\infty}.$$
(2.31)

Step 4. Proof of (ii): The function  $u(x) = 1 - A |x|^{-\frac{2-q}{q-1}}$  is a positive radial and increasing supersolution of (1.1) in  $B_R^c$  for R large enough provided  $1 < q < \frac{N}{N-1}$  and

$$0 < A < \frac{1-q}{2-q} \left(\frac{q}{q-1} - N\right)^{\frac{1}{q-1}}.$$
(2.32)

When q = 1 the function  $u(x) = 1 - Ae^{-\alpha |x|}$  is a supersolution provided  $\alpha > N - 1$  and A is small enough.

#### 2.2 Proof of Theorem B

The next result will be useful in the sequel.

**Lemma 2.4** Let q > 1 and a, R > 0. Assume v is continuous and nonnegative on  $\overline{B}_R$  and  $C^1$  on the set  $\mathcal{U}_+ = \{x \in B_R : v(x) > 0\}$ . If v satisfies

$$-\Delta \upsilon + \upsilon^q \le a \frac{|\nabla \upsilon|^2}{\upsilon} \tag{2.33}$$

on each connected component of  $\mathcal{U}_+$ , there holds

$$v(0) \le c_{N,q,a} R^{-\frac{2}{q-1}}.$$
 (2.34)

*Proof.* We can always suppose a > 0 and set  $v = W^{\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha > 0$  to be defined. Then

$$-\Delta W + (1-\alpha)\frac{|\nabla W|^2}{W} + \frac{1}{\alpha}W^{\alpha(q-1)+1} \le a\alpha^2\frac{|\nabla W|^2}{W}$$

If we choose  $1 - \alpha \ge a\alpha^2$ , or equivalently  $0 < \alpha \le \frac{1}{a+1}$  we derive

$$-\Delta W + \frac{1}{\alpha} W^{\alpha(q-1)+1} \le 0.$$

on each connected component of  $\mathcal{U}_+$ . A standard computation shows that there exists  $c_{N,\alpha,q} > 0$  such that the function

$$x \mapsto \psi(x) := \frac{c_{N,\alpha,q} (R^2 \alpha)^{\frac{1}{\alpha(q-1)}}}{(R^2 - |x|^2)^{\frac{2}{\alpha(q-1)}}}$$

satisfies

$$-\Delta \psi + \frac{1}{\alpha} \psi^{\alpha(q-1)+1} \ge 0$$
 in  $B_R$ 

Assume that there exists a connected component G of  $\{x \in B_R : W(x) > \psi(x)\}$ , then  $G \subset \mathcal{U}_+$ . The function  $\phi = W - \psi$  is subharmonic and continuous in  $\overline{G}$  and vanishes on  $\partial G$ . Hence  $\phi \leq 0$ , contradiction. Hence  $G = \emptyset$  and  $W \leq \psi$  in  $\mathcal{U}_+$ . Since  $W \equiv 0$  in  $B_R \setminus \mathcal{U}_+$  we derive that  $W \leq \psi$  in  $B_R$ . Therefore

$$W(0) \le \frac{c_{N,\alpha,q} \alpha^{\frac{1}{\alpha(q-1)}}}{R^{\frac{2}{\alpha(q-1)}}}$$
(2.35)

which leads to (2.34).

Proof of Theorem B: In any open subset  $\mathcal{U}$  of  $B_R$  where  $|\nabla u| > 0$  the function u is  $C^{\infty}$  and the next computations are justified.

Step 1: Transformation of the equation. Set  $u = v^{-\beta}$  where  $\beta$  is a nonzero real number to be chosen. Then

$$\Delta v = (1+\beta) \frac{|\nabla v|^2}{v} + |\beta|^{q-2} \beta v^{1-q-\beta(p+q-1)} |\nabla v|^q$$
  
=  $(1+\beta) \frac{z}{v} + |\beta|^{q-2} \beta v^s z^{\frac{q}{2}},$  (2.36)

if we denote  $z = |\nabla v|^2$  and  $s = 1 - q - \beta(p + q - 1)$ . We recall that

$$\frac{1}{2}\Delta \left|\nabla v\right|^{2} = \left|D^{2}v\right|^{2} + \left\langle\nabla\Delta v, \nabla v\right\rangle.$$

Since

$$\left|D^{2}v\right|^{2} \geq \frac{1}{N}\left(\Delta v\right)^{2} = \frac{1}{N}\left((1+\beta)^{2}\frac{z^{2}}{v^{2}} + \beta^{2(q-1)}v^{2s}z^{q} + 2(1+\beta)\left|\beta\right|^{q-2}\beta v^{s-1}z^{\frac{q}{2}+1}\right),$$

we get

$$\frac{1}{2}\Delta z \ge \frac{1}{N} \left( (1+\beta)^2 \frac{z^2}{v^2} + \beta^{2(q-1)} v^{2s} z^q + 2(1+\beta) |\beta|^{q-2} \beta v^{s-1} z^{\frac{q}{2}+1} \right) - (1+\beta) \frac{z^2}{v^2} + s |\beta|^{q-2} \beta v^{s-1} z^{\frac{q}{2}+1} + (1+\beta) \frac{\langle \nabla z, \nabla v \rangle}{v} + \frac{q}{2} |\beta|^{q-2} \beta v^s z^{\frac{q}{2}-1} \langle \nabla z, \nabla v \rangle.$$
(2.37)

Expanding the expression we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{2}\Delta z &\geq \frac{1}{N}\left((1+\beta)^2 \frac{z^2}{v^2} + \beta^{2(q-1)} v^{2s} z^q + 2(1+\beta) \left|\beta\right|^{q-2} \beta v^{s-1} z^{\frac{q}{2}+1}\right) - (1+\beta) \frac{z^2}{v^2} \\ &+ s \left|\beta\right|^{q-2} \beta v^{s-1} z^{\frac{q}{2}+1} + (1+\beta) \frac{\langle \nabla z, \nabla v \rangle}{v} + \frac{q}{2} \left|\beta\right|^{q-2} \beta v^s z^{\frac{q}{2}-1} \langle \nabla z, \nabla v \rangle, \end{aligned}$$

which can be re-written as

$$\begin{aligned} -\frac{1}{2}\Delta z + \left(\frac{(1+\beta)^2}{N} - (1+\beta)\right)\frac{z^2}{v^2} + \frac{1}{N}\beta^{2(q-1)}v^{2s}z^q + \left(\frac{2(1+\beta)}{N} + s\right)|\beta|^{q-2}\beta v^{s-1}z^{\frac{q}{2}+1} \\ + (1+\beta)\frac{\langle \nabla z, \nabla v \rangle}{v} + \frac{q}{2}|\beta|^{q-2}\beta v^s z^{\frac{q}{2}-1}\langle \nabla z, \nabla v \rangle &\leq 0. \end{aligned}$$
(2.38)

Next we set  $z = v^{-\lambda}Y$  for some parameter  $\lambda$ , then

$$-\Delta z = \lambda v^{-\lambda - 1} Y \Delta v - \lambda (\lambda + 1) v^{-2\lambda - 2} Y^2 + 2\lambda v^{-\lambda - 1} \langle \nabla Y, \nabla v \rangle - v^{-\lambda} \Delta Y.$$

Since  $\Delta v = (1+\beta)\frac{z}{v} + |\beta|^{q-2} \beta v^s z^{\frac{q}{2}} = (1+\beta)v^{-\lambda-1}Y + |\beta|^{q-2} \beta v^{s-\frac{\lambda q}{2}}Y^{\frac{q}{2}}$  we use  $\frac{z^2}{v^2} = v^{-2\lambda-2}Y^2, \ v^{2s}z^q = v^{2s-\lambda q}Y^q \text{ and } v^{s-1}z^{1+\frac{q}{2}} = v^{s-1-\lambda-\frac{\lambda q}{2}}Y^{\frac{q}{2}+1},$ 

and get

$$-\Delta z = \lambda(\beta - \lambda)v^{-2-2\lambda}Y^2 + \lambda|\beta|^{q-2}\beta v^{s-1-\lambda-\frac{\lambda q}{2}}Y^{\frac{q}{2}+1} + 2\lambda v^{-\lambda-1}\langle \nabla Y, \nabla v \rangle - v^{-\lambda}\Delta Y.$$

Reporting into (2.38) yields

$$\begin{split} 0 &\geq \frac{\lambda}{2} (\beta - \lambda) v^{-2-2\lambda} Y^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2} \left| \beta \right|^{q-2} \beta v^{s-1-\lambda - \frac{\lambda q}{2}} Y^{\frac{q}{2}+1} + \lambda v^{-\lambda - 1} \langle \nabla Y, \nabla v \rangle - \frac{1}{2} v^{-\lambda} \Delta Y \\ &+ \left( \frac{(1+\beta)^2}{N} - (1+\beta) \right) v^{-2\lambda - 2} Y^2 + \left( \frac{2(1+\beta)}{N} + s \right) \left| \beta \right|^{q-2} \beta v^{s-1-\lambda - \frac{\lambda q}{2}} Y^{\frac{q}{2}+1} \\ &+ \frac{1}{N} \beta^{2(q-1)} v^{2s-\lambda q} Y^q + (1+\beta) \left( v^{-\lambda - 1} \langle \nabla Y, \nabla v \rangle - \lambda v^{-2\lambda - 2} Y^2 \right) \\ &+ \frac{q}{2} \left| \beta \right|^{q-2} \beta \left( v^{s-\frac{\lambda q}{2}} Y^{\frac{q}{2}-1} \langle \nabla Y, \nabla v \rangle - \lambda v^{s-1-\lambda - \frac{\lambda q}{2}} Y^{1+\frac{q}{2}} \right), \end{split}$$

which can be re-written under the form

$$\begin{aligned} -\frac{1}{2}v^{-\lambda}\Delta Y + \left(\frac{(1+\beta)^2}{N} - (1+\beta) - \frac{\lambda}{2}(\lambda+\beta+2)\right)v^{-2\lambda-2}Y^2 \\ &+ \left(\frac{2(1+\beta)}{N} + s - \frac{\lambda(q-1)}{2}\right)|\beta|^{q-2}\beta v^{s-1-\lambda-\frac{\lambda q}{2}}Y^{\frac{q}{2}+1} + \frac{1}{N}\beta^{2(q-1)}v^{2s-\lambda q}Y^q \\ &\leq -\left(\frac{q}{2}|\beta|^{q-2}\beta v^{s-\frac{\lambda q}{2}}Y^{\frac{q}{2}-1} + (\lambda+1)v^{-\lambda-1}\right)\langle\nabla Y,\nabla v\rangle. \end{aligned}$$

Multiplying this relation by  $v^\lambda$  yields

$$\begin{aligned} -\frac{1}{2}\Delta Y + \left(\frac{(1+\beta)^2}{N} - (1+\beta) - \frac{\lambda}{2}(\lambda+\beta+2)\right)v^{-\lambda-2}Y^2 \\ + \left(\frac{2(1+\beta)}{N} + s - \frac{\lambda(q-1)}{2}\right)|\beta|^{q-2}\beta v^{s-1-\frac{\lambda q}{2}}Y^{\frac{q}{2}+1} + \frac{1}{N}\beta^{2(q-1)}v^{2s-\lambda q+\lambda}Y^q \\ \leq -\left(\frac{q}{2}|\beta|^{q-2}\beta v^{s-\frac{\lambda q}{2}+\lambda}Y^{\frac{q}{2}-1} + \frac{\lambda+1}{v}\right)\langle\nabla Y,\nabla v\rangle. \end{aligned}$$

Step 2: Estimate on Y. Let  $\epsilon_0 \in (0,1)$ . For any  $\epsilon > 0$  one has

$$\left|\frac{\langle \nabla Y, \nabla v \rangle}{v}\right| \leq \frac{1}{4\epsilon} \frac{\left|\nabla Y\right|^2}{Y} + \epsilon v^{-\lambda - 2} Y^2.$$

Taking  $\epsilon = \frac{\epsilon_0}{|\lambda+1|}$ , we get

$$\left| (\lambda+1) \frac{\langle \nabla Y, \nabla v \rangle}{v} \right| \le \frac{(\lambda+1)^2}{4\epsilon_0} \frac{|\nabla Y|^2}{Y} + \epsilon_0 v^{-\lambda-2} Y^2.$$

In the same way, with  $\epsilon = \frac{2\epsilon_0}{q|\beta|^{q-1}}$ ,

$$\left|v^{s-\frac{\lambda q}{2}+\lambda}Y^{\frac{q}{2}-1}\langle\nabla Y,\nabla v\rangle\right| = v^{s-\frac{\lambda q}{2}+\lambda}Y^{\frac{q}{2}-1}Y^{\frac{q-1}{2}}\frac{|\nabla Y|}{\sqrt{Y}} \le \epsilon'v^{2s-\lambda q+\lambda}Y^{q} + \frac{1}{4\epsilon'}\frac{|\nabla Y|^{2}}{Y},$$

and

$$-\frac{q}{2}\left|\beta\right|^{q-2}\beta v^{s-\frac{\lambda q}{2}+\lambda}Y^{\frac{q}{2}-1}\langle\nabla Y,\nabla v\rangle \leq \frac{\epsilon' q\left|\beta\right|^{q-1}}{2}v^{2s-\lambda q+\lambda}Y^{q} + \frac{q\left|\beta\right|^{q-1}}{8\epsilon'}\frac{\left|\nabla Y\right|^{2}}{Y}.$$

We infer

$$-\frac{1}{2}\Delta Y + \left(\frac{(1+\beta)^2}{N} - (1+\beta) - \frac{\lambda(\beta+\lambda+2-\epsilon_0)}{2}\right)v^{-\lambda-2}Y^2 + \left(\frac{2(1+\beta)}{N} + s - \frac{\lambda(q-1)}{2}\right)|\beta|^{q-2}\beta v^{s-1-\frac{\lambda q}{2}}Y^{1+\frac{q}{2}}$$
(2.39)
$$+ \left(\frac{\beta^{2(q-1)}}{N} - \epsilon_0\right)v^{2s-\lambda q+\lambda}Y^q \le C(\epsilon_0)\frac{|\nabla Y|^2}{Y},$$

with  $C(\epsilon_0) = \left(\frac{(\lambda+1)^2}{4} + \frac{q\beta^{2(q-1)}}{16}\right) \frac{1}{\epsilon_0}$ . Next we put

$$\begin{split} H &= \left(\frac{(1+\beta)^2}{N} - (1+\beta) - \frac{\lambda(\beta+\lambda+2-\epsilon_0)}{2}\right) v^{-\lambda-2} Y^2 \\ &+ \left(\frac{2(1+\beta)}{N} + s - \frac{\lambda(q-1)}{2}\right) |\beta|^{q-2} \beta v^{s-1-\frac{\lambda q}{2}} Y^{1+\frac{q}{2}} + \left(\frac{\beta^{2(q-1)}}{N} - \epsilon_0\right) v^{2s-\lambda q+\lambda} Y^q, \end{split}$$

and consider the trinom

$$\mathbf{T}_{\epsilon_0}(t) = \left(\frac{\beta^{2(q-1)}}{N} - \epsilon_0\right) t^2 + \left(\frac{2(1+\beta)}{N} + s - \frac{\lambda(q-1)}{2}\right) |\beta|^{q-2} \beta t + \left(\frac{(1+\beta)^2}{N} - (1+\beta) - \frac{\lambda(\beta+\lambda+2-\epsilon_0)}{2}\right).$$

If its discriminant is negative there exists  $\alpha = \alpha(N, p, q, \beta, \lambda, \epsilon_0) > 0$  such that  $\mathbf{T}_{\epsilon_0}(t) \ge \alpha(t^2+1)$ , hence

$$H \ge \alpha \left( v^{-\lambda - 2} Y^2 + v^{2s - \lambda q + \lambda} Y^q \right).$$
(2.40)

Assuming  $\lambda \neq -2$ , we introduce

$$S = \frac{2s - \lambda q + \lambda}{\lambda + 2} = 1 - q - \frac{2\beta(p + q - 1)}{\lambda + 2},$$
(2.41)

then, if  $S > \max\{0, 1-q\}$ , we have  $\frac{2S+q}{S+1} > 1$  and

$$Y^{\frac{2S+q}{S+1}} = \left(\frac{Y^2}{v^{\lambda+2}}\right)^{\frac{S}{S+1}} v^{\frac{(\lambda+2)S}{S+1}} Y^{\frac{q}{S+1}} \le \frac{Y^2}{v^{\lambda+2}} + v^{(\lambda+2)S} Y^q = \frac{Y^2}{v^{\lambda+2}} + v^{2s-\lambda q+\lambda} Y^q.$$

From this we infer the key inequality

$$-\Delta Y + 2\alpha Y^{\frac{2S+q}{S+1}} \le 2C(\epsilon_0) \frac{|\nabla Y|^2}{Y}.$$
(2.42)

Using Lemma 2.4, we derive

$$Y(0) \le cR^{-\frac{2(S+1)}{S+q-1}} = cR^{-\frac{2(s+1)-\lambda(q-1)}{s+q-1}} = cR^{-2+\frac{(2+\lambda)(2-q)}{\beta(p+q-1)}},$$

from which follows

$$\left|\nabla u^{-\frac{2+\lambda}{2\beta}}(0)\right| \le \frac{|2+\lambda|\sqrt{c}}{2} R^{-1+\frac{(2+\lambda)(2-q)}{2\beta(p+q-1)}},\tag{2.43}$$

from which it stems inequality (1.8) in Theorem B with  $a = -\frac{\lambda+2}{2\beta} > 0$  from (2.41). In what follows we shall see that under the assumptions of Theorem B we can always choose such  $\beta$ ,  $\lambda$ . Step 3: Study of the trinom  $\mathbf{T}_{\epsilon_0}$ . The discriminant of the trinom  $\mathbf{T}_{\epsilon_0}$  is a polynomial in its coefficients. Hence it is sufficient to prove that the discriminant of  $\mathbf{T}_0$  is negative to derive that the same property holds for  $\mathbf{T}_{\epsilon_0}$  for  $\epsilon_0$  small enough. If

$$\mathbf{T}_{0}(t) = \frac{\beta^{2(q-1)}}{N}t^{2} + \left(\frac{2(1+\beta)}{N} + s - \frac{\lambda(q-1)}{2}\right)|\beta|^{q-2}\beta t \\ + \left(\frac{(1+\beta)^{2}}{N} - (1+\beta) - \frac{\lambda(\beta+\lambda+2)}{2}\right),$$

its discriminant D verifies

$$\beta^{2(1-q)}D = \left(\frac{2(1+\beta)}{N} + s - \frac{\lambda(q-1)}{2}\right)^2 - \frac{4}{N}\left(\frac{(1+\beta)^2}{N} - (1+\beta) - \frac{\lambda(\beta+\lambda+2)}{2}\right).$$

Using  $\beta + 1 = \frac{p-s}{p+q-1}$  we obtain

$$\beta^{2(1-q)}D = \left(s - \lambda \frac{q-1}{2}\right)^2 + \frac{4(p-s)}{N(p+q-1)}\left(s + 1 + \lambda \frac{2-q}{2}\right) + \frac{2\lambda(\lambda+1)}{N}.$$

Since  $S = \frac{2s + \lambda(1-q)}{\lambda+2}$ ,  $s - \lambda \frac{q-1}{2} = \frac{(\lambda+2)S}{2}$ , hence

$$\beta^{2(1-q)}D = \frac{(\lambda+2)^2 S^2}{4} + \frac{4}{N(p+q-1)} \left[ -\frac{(\lambda+2)^2 S^2}{4} + \left(p-1-\frac{\lambda q}{2}\right) \frac{(\lambda+2)S}{2} + \left(p-\frac{\lambda(q-1)}{2}\right) \left(\frac{\lambda+2}{2}\right) \right] + \frac{2\lambda(\lambda+1)}{N}.$$

Set Q = p + q - 1 and  $D_1 = NQ\beta^{2'1-q}D$ , then

$$D_1 = (\lambda + 2)^2 \left(\frac{NQ}{4} - 1\right) S^2 + 2\left(p - 1 - \frac{\lambda q}{2}\right) (\lambda + 2) + \tilde{L},$$

where miraculously,

$$\begin{split} L &= (2p + \lambda(1-q))(\lambda+2) + 2\lambda(\lambda+1)Q \\ &= Q\lambda^2 + p(\lambda+2)^2 > 0. \end{split}$$

So we require that  $\lambda + 2 \neq 0$  and set  $\ell = \frac{\lambda}{\lambda+2}$ ; equivalently  $\ell \neq 1$  and  $\lambda + 2 = \frac{2}{1-\ell}$ . We obtain

$$D_2(S,\ell) := \frac{D_1}{(\lambda+2)^2} = \left(\frac{NQ}{4} - 1\right)S^2 + (p-1-Q\ell)S + Q\ell^2 + p.$$
(2.44)

So we are led to find  $\ell \neq 1$  and  $S > (1 - q)_+$  such that  $D_2(S, \ell) < 0$ . Indeed, S being fixed,  $D_2$  is a trinom in  $\ell$ :

$$\mathcal{T}_S(\ell) := D_2(S,\ell) = Q\ell^2 - QS\ell + \left(\frac{NQ}{4} - 1\right)S^2 - (1-p)S + p.$$

In order that  $\mathcal{T}_{S}(\ell) < 0$ , we require that its discriminant is positive, which reduces to the condition

$$\mathcal{H}(S) := \left(1 - \frac{(N-1)Q}{4}\right)S^2 + (1-p)S - p > 0.$$
(2.45)

(i) We first assume  $Q < \frac{4}{N-1}$ . Then we choose S large enough such that  $\mathcal{H}(S) > 0$  and  $S > 2 > (1-q)_+$ . Then we fix  $\ell = \frac{S}{2}$  so that  $\ell > 1$  and all the conditions are fulfilled.

(ii) Next we assume p < 1. Note that our assumption  $Q < \frac{(p+1)^2}{(N-1)p}$  is equivalent to

$$d = (p+1)^2 - p((N-1)Q - 4) > 0$$
(2.46)

where d is the discriminant of  $\mathcal{H}$ . It particular it holds if  $Q \leq \frac{4}{N-1}$ . Next we assume  $Q > \frac{4}{N-1}$ . Hence the coefficient of  $S^2$  in  $\mathcal{H}(S)$  is negative, and  $\mathcal{H}$  has two positive roots. Then we take S as the half sum of the roots, i.e.

$$S = S_0 := \frac{2(1-p)}{(N-1)Q-4}.$$
(2.47)

We have still to check that  $S_0 > (1-q)_+$ . This is clear if  $q \ge 1$ . If q < 1 we get from (2.46)

$$S_0 + q - 1 = \frac{2(1-p)}{(N-1)Q - 4} + q - 1 > \frac{2p}{1-p} + q - 1 = \frac{p(2-q) + Q}{1-p} > 0.$$

At end we choose  $\ell \neq 1$  close enough to  $\frac{S_0}{2}$  so that all the conditions are satisfied (always with  $a = -\frac{\lambda+2}{2\beta} > 0$ ).

*Remark.* In the case  $Q < \frac{4}{N-1}$ , we have fixed some  $\ell > 1$  so that  $\lambda + 2 < 0$  and then  $\beta > 0$ . If  $Q < \frac{4}{N}$ , a much simpler possible choice is  $\lambda = \ell = 0$  so that  $\beta < 0$ .

Proof of Corollary B-2. Since  $\partial\Omega$  is smooth, there exists  $d_0 > 0$  such that for any  $z \in \Omega$ verifying dist  $(z, \partial\Omega) \leq d_0$ , there exists a unique  $\zeta_z \in \partial\Omega$  such that dist  $(z, \partial\Omega) = |z - \zeta_z|$ . If dist  $(z_0, \partial\Omega) = d_0$ , we denote by  $\mathbf{n}_{\zeta_{z_0}}$  the normal inward unit vector to  $\partial\Omega$  at  $\zeta_{z_0}$  and we set  $x_t = t\mathbf{n}_{\zeta_{z_0}}, 0 < t \leq d_0$ . By (1.8),

$$|\nabla u^a(x_t)| \le c_1 t^{-1-a\frac{2-q}{p+q-1}},$$

hence

$$|u^{a}(x_{t}) - u^{a}(z_{0})| \le c_{1} \int_{t}^{d_{0}} s^{-1 - a \frac{2 - q}{p + q - 1}} ds.$$

This implies

$$u^{a}(x_{t}) \leq u^{a}(z_{0}) + \frac{c_{1}(p+q-1)}{a(2-q)}t^{-a\frac{2-q}{p+q-1}} = u^{a}(z_{0}) + \frac{c_{1}(p+q-1)}{a(2-q)}\left(\operatorname{dist}\left(x_{t},\partial\Omega\right)\right)^{-a\frac{2-q}{p+q-1}}.$$

If  $a \ge 1$  it yields

$$u(x_t) \le u(z_0) + \frac{c_1(p+q-1)}{(2-q)} \left( \operatorname{dist}(x_t, \partial \Omega) \right)^{-\frac{2-q}{p+q-1}}$$

while, if 0 < a < 1 we can only obtain

$$u(x_t) \le c_2 \left( (u(z_0) + \frac{c_1(p+q-1)}{(2-q)} (\operatorname{dist}(x_t, \partial \Omega))^{-\frac{2-q}{p+q-1}} \right).$$

In any case we derive (1.9).

# 3 Global solutions

#### 3.1 Radial solutions

In the next theorem we characterize all the positive global radial solutions of (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . We can always assume that the solutions are radial with respect to 0.

**Theorem 3.1** Assume  $p, q \ge 0$  such that p + q - 1 > 0. If  $q \ge 1$  the only positive global radial solutions of (1.1) are the constants. If  $0 \le q < 1$  there exists positive global radial solutions if and only if

$$p(N-2) + q(N-1) \ge N + \frac{2-q}{1-q}.$$
 (3.1)

Furthermore, if  $p(N-2) + q(N-1) = N + \frac{2-q}{1-q}$  there exists a one parameter of solutions under the form

$$u_c(r) = c \left( K c^{\frac{(2-q)^2}{(N-2)(1-q)}} + r^{\frac{2-q}{1-q}} \right)^{-\frac{(N-2)(1-q)}{2-q}} \text{ with } K = \frac{(N-2)^{q-1}}{N - (N-1)q}.$$
 (3.2)

*Proof.* The radial form of (1.1) is the following

$$-u_{rr} - \frac{N-1}{r}u_r = u^p |u_r|^q, \qquad (3.3)$$

and u'(0) = 0 since any solution is  $C^2$ . Thus u can be written under the form

$$u(r) = u(0) + \int_0^r s^{1-N} \int_0^s u^p(t) \left| u_r(t) \right|^q t^{N-1} dt \qquad \forall r > 0.$$
(3.4)

If  $q \ge 1$ , the solution satisfying u(0) = a > 0 is the unique fixed point of the mapping  $v \mapsto \mathcal{T}[v]$  defined in the set of functions in  $C([0, r_0])$  with value a for r = 0 by

$$\mathcal{T}[v](r) := a + \int_0^r s^{1-N} \int_0^s v^p(t) \, |v_r(t)|^q \, t^{N-1} dt \qquad \forall r > 0.$$

Clearly  $\mathcal{T}$  is a strict contraction if  $r_0 > 0$  is small enough. Since  $u \equiv a$  is a solution in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  it is the unique one.

Hereafter we assume  $0 \le q < 1$ . As we have noticed it in the proof of Theorem 2.3 we can write (3.3) under the form

$$\Delta_m^{\nu} u + (1-q)u^p = 0, \qquad (3.5)$$

where  $\Delta_m^{\nu}$  is a *m*-Laplacian in dimension  $\nu$  applied to radial functions. An important critical value of *p* is the following

$$p_c := \frac{\nu(m-1) + m}{\nu - m} = \frac{(N - (N-1)q)(1-q) + 2 - q}{(N-2)(1-q)}.$$
(3.6)

For this specific value there exists an explicit family of ground states

$$u_c(r) = c \left( K_c^2 + r^{\frac{m}{m-1}} \right)^{\frac{m-\nu}{m+\nu}} = c \left( K_c^2 + r^{\frac{2-q}{1-q}} \right)^{-\frac{(N-2)(1-q)}{2-q}},$$
(3.7)

where c > 0 and

$$u_c(r) = c \left( K c^{\frac{m^2}{\nu - m}} + r^{\frac{m}{m-1}} \right)^{\frac{m - \nu}{m}} = c \left( K c^{\frac{(2-q)^2}{N - 2 - q(N+2)}} + r^{\frac{2-q}{1-q}} \right)^{\frac{(N-2)(q-1)}{2-q}},$$
(3.8)

with

$$K = \frac{1}{\nu} \left(\frac{\nu - m}{m - 1}\right)^{1 - m}.$$
(3.9)

 $\operatorname{Set}$ 

$$F_{u}(r) = r^{\nu} \left( \frac{|u_{r}|^{m}}{m'} + \frac{u^{p+1}}{p+1} + \frac{\nu - m}{m} \frac{|u_{r}|^{m-2} u_{r}}{r} \right)$$
  
$$= r^{N-(N-1)q} \left( \frac{(1-q)|u_{r}|^{2-q}}{2-q} + \frac{u^{p+1}}{p+1} + \frac{(N-2)(1-q)}{2-q} \frac{|u_{r}|^{-q} u_{r}}{r} \right).$$
(3.10)

Then

$$F'_{u}(r) = r^{\nu-1} \left(\frac{\nu}{p+1} - \frac{\nu-m}{m}\right) u^{p+1}.$$
(3.11)

We notice that  $F'_u \equiv 0$  if an only if  $p = p_c$ ,  $F'_u > 0$  (resp.  $F'_u < 0$ ) if and only if  $p > p_c$  (resp.  $p < p_c$ ). By [2, Th 5.2, 5.3], if  $p < p_c$  all the solutions of (3.5) which have a finite limit at r = 0 oscillates around 0 when  $r \to \infty$ . Hence there exists no ground state. By [2, Th 5.1], if  $p > p_c$ , for any  $\alpha > 0$  there exist a positive solution u of (3.5) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  satisfying  $u(0) = \alpha$ .

#### 3.2 Proof of Theorem C

Step 1: Integral inequalities. The aim of this paragraph is to prove that under the assumptions (1.10) the gradient of any nonnegative solution u of (1.1) in whole  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is null. The method is an extension of the one developped in [10], [5], in the sense that we still set  $u = v^{-\beta}$  and v satisfies (2-1), and  $z = |\nabla v|^2$ . The main novelty is that we multiply the equation satisfied by z by  $v^{\lambda} z^e$  where e > 0 and  $\lambda$  are two real parameters (in [10] and [5] they have chosen e = 0). The algebraic computation is heavy and we present a very technical part of it in Appendix. Furthermore, since the exponent e is going to be smaller than 1, we have to replace  $z^e$  by f(z) where f is a smooth approximation and to consider many equations in the weak sense since u, and hence v is merely  $C^{2,q}$  if 0 < q < 1. We start with the following Weintzenböck inequality already used in the proof of Theorem B, but taken here in the weak sense,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left( \frac{1}{2} \langle \nabla z, \nabla \phi \rangle + \frac{(\Delta v)^2}{N} \phi - \Delta v (\langle \nabla v, \nabla \phi \rangle + \phi \Delta v) \right) dx \le 0,$$

for all  $\phi \in C_0^1(\mathbb{R}^N), \phi \ge 0$ , hence

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left( \frac{1}{2} \langle \nabla z, \nabla \phi \rangle - \frac{N-1}{N} \phi(\Delta v)^2 - \Delta v \langle \nabla v, \nabla \phi \rangle \right) dx \le 0.$$
(3.12)

We choose  $\phi = v^{\lambda} f(z)\eta$  where  $\eta \in C_0^3(\mathbb{R}^N), \eta \ge 0$  and  $f \in C^1([0,\infty)), f \ge 0$  and get

$$\frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-1} f(z) \eta \langle \nabla v, \nabla z \rangle dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda} f'(z) |\nabla z|^{2} \eta dx - \frac{N-1}{N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} (\Delta v)^{2} v^{\lambda} f(z) \eta dx 
- \lambda \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-1} (\Delta v) f(z) z \eta dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda} (\Delta v) f'(z) \eta \langle \nabla v, \nabla z \rangle dx 
\leq -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda} f(z) \langle \nabla z, \nabla \eta \rangle dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda} (\Delta v) f(z) \eta \langle \nabla v, \nabla z \rangle dx.$$
(3.13)

This inequality proved with regular functions v and f is extendable by density to  $v \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and f locally Lipschitz continuous. We apply this relation to the function v which satisfies (2.36) in the range  $0 \leq q < 2, \beta \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{1\}$  and where  $s = 1 - q - \beta(p + q - 1)$ . We consider the different terms appearing in (3.13) with the help of (2.36).

$$\Sigma = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (\Delta v) v^{\lambda} f'(z) \eta \langle \nabla v \nabla z \rangle dx = (1+\beta) \Sigma_1 + |\beta|^{q-2} \beta \Sigma_2$$

with

$$\Sigma_1 = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} z f'(z) v^{\lambda-1} \eta \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx \quad \text{and} \quad \Sigma_2 = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} z^{\frac{q}{2}} f'(z) v^{\lambda+s} \eta \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx.$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{1} &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \eta \langle v^{\lambda-1} \nabla v, zf'(z) \nabla z \rangle dx \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \eta \langle v^{\lambda-1} \nabla v, \nabla(g(z)) dx \quad \text{where} \quad g(t) = \int_{0}^{t} sf'(s) ds \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \langle v^{\lambda-1} \nabla v, \nabla(\eta g(z)) \rangle dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-1} g(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \eta g(z) \nabla . (v^{\lambda-1} \nabla v) dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-1} g(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx \\ &= (\lambda - 1) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-2} \eta g(z) z dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \eta g(z) v^{\lambda-1} (\Delta v) dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-1} g(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx \\ &= (\lambda - 1) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-2} \eta g(z) z dx + (1 + \beta)) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \eta g(z) z v^{\lambda-2} dx + \\ & |\beta|^{q-2} \beta \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \eta g(z) z^{\frac{q}{2}} v^{\lambda-1+s} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-1} g(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx. \end{split}$$

Similarly,

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{2} &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \langle v^{\lambda+s} \nabla v, z^{\frac{q}{2}} f'(z) \nabla z \rangle \eta dx \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \langle v^{\lambda+s} \nabla v, \nabla h(z) \rangle \eta dx \quad \text{where} \quad h(t) = \int_{0}^{t} s^{\frac{q}{2}} f'(s) ds \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \langle v^{\lambda+s} \nabla v, \nabla (\eta h(z)) \rangle dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda+s} h(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx \\ &= (\lambda+s) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda+s-1} z h(z) \eta dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda+s} (\Delta v) h(z) \eta dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda+s} h(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx \\ &= (\lambda+s+\beta+1) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda+s-1} z h(z) \eta dx + |\beta|^{q-2} \beta \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda+2s} z^{\frac{q}{2}} h(z) \eta dx \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda+s} h(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx. \end{split}$$

Next we compute the term

$$\begin{split} \Theta_1 &= \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda - 1} f(z) \eta \langle \nabla v, \nabla z \rangle dx \\ &= \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda - 1} \eta \langle \nabla v, \nabla j(z) \rangle dx \quad \text{where} \quad j(t) = \int_0^t f(s) ds \\ &= \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda - 1} \langle \nabla v, \nabla (j(z)\eta) \rangle dx - \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda - 1} j(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx \\ &= -\frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} j(z) \eta \left( v^{\lambda - 1} \Delta v + (\lambda - 1) v^{\lambda - 2} z \right) dx - \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda - 1} j(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx. \end{split}$$

Finally we compute

$$\Theta_{2} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda} f(z) \langle \nabla z, \nabla \eta \rangle dx = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda} \langle \nabla (j(z), \nabla \eta \rangle dx$$
$$= -\frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-1} j(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda} j(z) (\Delta \eta) dx.$$

Carrying forward these estimates into (3.13) yields

$$-\frac{\lambda(\lambda-1)}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-2} j(z) z \eta dx - \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} (\Delta v) v^{\lambda-1} j(z) \eta dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda} f'(z) |\nabla z|^{2} \eta dx$$
  

$$- \frac{N-1}{N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} (\Delta v)^{2} v^{\lambda} f(z) \eta dx - \lambda \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} (\Delta v) v^{\lambda-1} z f(z) \eta dx$$
  

$$- (1+\beta)(\lambda+\beta) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-2} z g(z) \eta dx + (1+\beta) |\beta|^{q-2} \beta \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-1+s} z^{\frac{q}{2}} g(z) \eta dx$$
  

$$+ |\beta|^{q-2} \beta (\beta+1+\lambda+s) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda+s-1} z h(z) \eta dx + \beta^{2(q-1)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda+2} z^{\frac{q}{2}} h(z) \eta dx$$
  

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left( \lambda j(z) + f(z) v \Delta v - (1+\beta) g(z) - |\beta|^{q-2} \beta v^{1+s} h(z) \right) v^{\lambda-1} \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx$$
  

$$- \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda} j(z) \Delta \eta dx.$$
(3.14)

Next we fix  $e \ge 0$  and choose  $f(t) = t^e$  if  $e \ge 1$  and, for  $0 < \epsilon < 1$ ,  $f(t) = f_{\epsilon}(t) = \min\{t^e, \epsilon^{e-1}t\}$ if  $0 \le e < 1$ . Then  $f_{\epsilon}$  is locally Lipschitz continuous. In order to let  $\epsilon \to 0$  in (3.14), replacing f, j, g and h respectively by  $f_{\epsilon}, j_{\epsilon}, g_{\epsilon}$  and  $h_{\epsilon}$  we notice that

$$f_{\epsilon}(z) \uparrow z^{e}, g_{\epsilon}(z) \uparrow \frac{e}{1+e} z^{1+e}, h_{\epsilon}(z) \uparrow \frac{2e}{q+2e} z^{\frac{q}{2}+e} \text{ and } j_{\epsilon}(z) \uparrow \frac{1}{1+e} z^{1+e}.$$

Since  $v^{\lambda} f'_{\epsilon}(z) |\nabla z|^2 \eta$  converges a.e. to  $v^{\lambda} z^{e-1} |\nabla z|^2 \eta$  we derive by Fatou's lemma

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda} z^{e-1} \left| \nabla z \right|^2 \eta dx \le \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda} f'_{\epsilon}(z) \left| \nabla z \right|^2 \eta dx,$$

which may not be finite. All the other terms in (3.14) converge by Lebesgue's theorem, hence

$$-\frac{\lambda(\lambda-1)}{2(1+e)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-2} z^{2+e} \eta dx - \lambda \left(\frac{1}{2(1+e)} + 1\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} (\Delta v) v^{\lambda-1} z^{1+e} \eta dx$$

$$+ \frac{e}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda} z^{e-1} |\nabla z|^{2} \eta dx - \frac{N-1}{N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} (\Delta v)^{2} v^{\lambda} z^{e} \eta dx + \frac{e(1+\beta)(\lambda+\beta)}{1+e} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-2} z^{e+2} \eta dx$$

$$+ |\beta|^{q-2} \beta \left(\frac{(\beta+1)e}{1+e} + \frac{2(\beta+1+\lambda+s)e}{q+2e}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda+s-1} z^{\frac{q}{2}+1+e} \eta dx$$

$$+ \frac{2e\beta^{2(q-1)}}{q+2e} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda+2s} z^{q+e} \eta dx \leq M_{0},$$
(3.15)

where

$$M_{0} = \frac{2\lambda - (1+\beta)e}{1+e} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda-1} z^{1+e} \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx - \frac{1}{1+e} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda} z^{1+e} \Delta \eta dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} (\Delta v) v^{\lambda} z^{e} \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx - \frac{2e |\beta|^{q-2} \beta}{q+2e} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda+s} z \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx$$
$$\leq c(M+L+R),$$
(3.16)

with

$$M = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda} z^{1+e} \left| \Delta \eta \right| dx, \quad L = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda-1} z^{\frac{3}{2}+e} \left| \nabla \eta \right| dx$$
  
$$R = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda+s} z^{\frac{q+1+2e}{2}} \left| \nabla \eta \right| dx;$$
  
(3.17)

Here we use  $|\langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle| \leq z^{\frac{1}{2}} |\nabla \eta|$  and the value of  $\Delta v$  given by (2.36) in order to have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (\Delta v) v^{\lambda} z^e \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx \le (1+\beta)L + |\beta|^q R.$$

 $\operatorname{Set}$ 

$$G = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda} z^{-1+e} |\nabla z|^2 \eta dx, \quad P = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda-1+s} z^{1+\frac{q}{2}+e} \eta dx$$

$$F = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda-2} z^{2+e} \eta dx, \quad U = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda+2s} z^{q+e} \eta dx.$$
(3.18)

We replace again  $\Delta v$  and  $(\Delta v)^2$  in the left-hand side of (3.15).

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (\Delta v) v^{\lambda - 1} z^{1 + e} \eta dx = (1 + \beta) F + |\beta|^{q - 2} \beta P,$$
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (\Delta v)^2 v^\lambda z^e \eta dx = (1 + \beta)^2 F + \beta^{2(q - 1)} U + 2 |\beta|^{q - 2} (1 + \beta) P.$$

replacing these terms into the left-hand side of (3.15), we obtain

$$\frac{e}{2}G + AF + |\beta|^q BP + CU \le M_0 \tag{3.19}$$

with

$$A = -\frac{\lambda(\lambda + \beta)}{2(1+e)} - \lambda(1+\beta) - \frac{(N-1)(1+\beta)^2}{N} + \frac{e(1+\beta)(\lambda+\beta)}{1+e}$$
$$= -\frac{\lambda(\lambda+\beta)}{2(1+e)} - (1+\beta)\left(1 - \frac{1+\beta}{N} + \frac{\lambda+\beta}{1+e}\right),$$
$$\beta B = -\lambda\left(1 + \frac{1}{2(1+e)}\right) - \frac{2(N-1)(1+\beta)}{N} + \frac{e(1+\beta)}{1+e} + \frac{2e(\beta+1+\lambda+s)}{q+2e}$$

and

$$C = \beta^{2(q-1)} \left( \frac{2e}{q+2e} - \frac{N-1}{N} \right).$$

Next we take  $e = \frac{(N-1)q}{2}$  so that C = 0, if q > 0 and e > 0 arbitrarily small so that  $C = \frac{\beta^{2(q-1)}}{N}$  if q = 0, i.e.  $\frac{2e}{q+2e} = 1$  and

$$\beta B = -\lambda \left(\frac{1}{N} + \frac{1}{2(1+e)}\right) + \frac{e(1+\beta)}{1+e} - \frac{(N-1)(\beta p + (\beta+1)q)}{N}$$

by replacing s by  $1 - q - \beta(p + q - 1)$ . Next we introduce  $\delta = -\frac{\lambda}{\beta}$  and  $y = \frac{1+\beta}{\beta}$ , hence

$$B = \delta\left(\frac{1}{N} + \frac{1}{2(1+e)}\right) + y\left(\frac{e}{1+e} - \frac{q(N-1)}{N}\right) - \frac{p(N-1)}{N}$$

Step 2: Study of the coefficients A and B. Our method is to choose the real parameters  $\delta$  and y in order to ensure A and B to be positive. We set

$$m = \delta - (2 + (N - 1)q) y. \tag{3.20}$$

In the sequel we keep the parameters y and m as variables and eliminate  $\delta$ .

(i) Condition A > 0. We define

$$\mathcal{E}(m,y) = -(2 + (N-1)q)A_0$$
  
=  $\frac{(N-1)(Nq+1)(2 + (N-1)q)}{N}y^2 + 2(1 + (N-1)q)(m-1)y + m(m-1).$ 

In the (m, y)-plane the set of points such that  $\mathcal{E}(m, y) = 0$  is a conic. Its points at infinity in the associated projective space  $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{R}) = \{(\tilde{y}, \tilde{m}, \tilde{t})\}$  satisfy, with  $\tilde{t} = 0$ ,

$$(2 + (N-1)q)\left((N-1)q + \frac{N-1}{N}\right)\tilde{y}^2 + 2\left(1 + (N-1)q\right)\tilde{m}\tilde{y} + \tilde{m}^2 = 0.$$

The discriminant of this quadratic form is

$$\tilde{\Delta} = (1 + (N-1)q)^2 - (2 + (N-1)q)\left((N-1)q + \frac{N-1}{N}\right),\,$$

which is always negative since  $N \ge 2$ . Hence  $\mathcal{E}(m, y) = 0$  is the equation of an ellipse, and it is easy to check that

$$\left\{ (m,y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \colon \mathcal{E}(m,y) < 0 \right\} \subset \left\{ (m,y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \colon -\frac{N\left(1 + (N-1)q\right)^2}{N-2 + (N-1)q} < m < 1 \right\}.$$
 (3.21)

(ii) Condition B > 0. We have

$$\mathcal{D}_p(m, y) := N \left( 2 + (N - 1)q \right) B$$
  
=  $(N + 2 + (N - 1)q) m + 2 \left( N + 2 + (N - 1)^2 q \right) y - (N - 1) \left( 2 + (N - 1)q \right) p$ 

The condition  $\mathcal{D}_p(m, y) > 0$  means that (m, y) belong to the upper half plane defined by the line  $\mathcal{D}_p$  with equation

$$y = -am + bp \tag{3.22}$$

where

$$a = \frac{N+2+(N-1)q}{N+2+(N^2-1)q} \text{ and } b = \frac{(N-1)(2+(N-1)q)}{N+2+(N^2-1)q}.$$
(3.23)

The problem is reduced to find the variable m so that the set  $\mathcal{E}(m, y) < 0$  intersects the set y + am - bp > 0. This means that the second degree equation  $\mathcal{E}(m, -am + bp) = 0$  has two real zeroes. Hence

$$0 = \frac{(N-1)(Nq+1)(2+(N-1)q)}{N}(am-bp)^{2} -2(1+(N-1)q)(m-1)(am-bp) + m^{2} - m$$
(3.24)

where a and b are given by (3.23). Its discriminant is given by  $\mathcal{D} = -\frac{b^2}{N}G(p,q)$  where G(p,q) is defined in (1.10). The condition reads G(p,q) < 0. If q = 0 we obtain  $p < \frac{N+2}{N-2}$ , which the optimal condition obtained in [10]. More generally the condition on p is

$$p < p_c(q) := \frac{-b(p) + \sqrt{b^2(q) + 4Nq^2\left((N-1)^2q + N - 2\right)}}{2\left((N-1)^2q + N - 2\right)}.$$
(3.25)

Step 3: Elimination of the right-hand side. Since e < 1, in order to estimate U in (3.18) we set  $\gamma_{\epsilon}(z) = \min\{z^{\frac{q}{2}+e}, \epsilon^{\frac{q}{2}+e-1}z\}$  if  $\frac{q}{2} + e < 1$  and  $\gamma_{\epsilon}(z) = z^{\frac{q}{2}+e}$  if  $\frac{q}{2} + e \ge 1$ . We multiply (2.36) by  $v^{\lambda+s}\gamma_{\epsilon}(z)\eta$  and get

$$\begin{split} |\beta|^{q-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{2s+\lambda} z^{\frac{q}{2}} \gamma_{\epsilon}(z) \eta dx &\leq |\lambda+s-\beta-1| \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{s+\lambda-1} z \gamma_{\epsilon}(z) \eta dx + \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \eta v^{\lambda+s} \gamma'_{\epsilon}(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla z \rangle \right| dx \\ &+ \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda+s} \gamma_{\epsilon}(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx \right|. \end{split}$$

There holds by dominated convergence

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda+s} \gamma_{\epsilon}(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla \eta \rangle dx \right| \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda+s} z^{\frac{q+1}{2}+1} \left| \nabla \eta \right| dx = R$$

We recall that  $f_{\epsilon}(z) = z^e$  if  $e \ge 1$  and  $f_{\epsilon}(z) = \min\{z^e, \epsilon^{e-1}z\}$  if e < 1. By Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \eta v^{\lambda+s} \gamma_{\epsilon}'(z) \langle \nabla v, \nabla z \rangle \right| dx &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\frac{\lambda}{2}} \left| \nabla z \right| \sqrt{f_{\epsilon}'(z)} \frac{v^{\frac{\lambda}{2}+s} \gamma_{\epsilon}'(z) \sqrt{z}}{\sqrt{f_{\epsilon}'(z)}} \eta dx \\ &\leq \alpha \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{v^{\lambda+2s} (\gamma_{\epsilon}'(z))^{2} z}{f_{\epsilon}'(z)} \eta dx + \frac{4}{\alpha} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} v^{\lambda} \left| \nabla z \right|^{2} f_{\epsilon}'(z) \eta dx. \end{aligned}$$

We have already seen that there exists

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda} \left| \nabla z \right|^2 f'_{\epsilon}(z) \eta dx = e \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda} \left| \nabla z \right|^2 z^{e-1} \eta dx = eG < \infty.$$

Considering separately the cases  $0 < e < \frac{q}{2} + e < 1$ ,  $0 < e < 1 \le \frac{q}{2} + e$  and  $1 \le e < \frac{q}{2} + e$ , we obtain, after some computations,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{v^{\lambda+2s} (\gamma'_{\epsilon}(z))^2 z}{f'_{\epsilon}(z)} \eta dx = \frac{(q+2e)^2}{4e} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v^{\lambda+2s} z^{q+e} \eta dx = \frac{(q+2e)^2}{4e} U,$$

This yields

$$|\beta|^{q-1}U \le |\lambda + s - \beta - 1|P + R + \frac{\alpha(q+2e)^2}{4e}U + \frac{4e}{\alpha}G.$$
(3.26)

Choosing  $\alpha > 0$  small enough we infer

$$U \le c(P+R+G),\tag{3.27}$$

for some c > 0 depending on the parameters.

From now we assume that the conditions on N, p and q which ensure the positivity of  $A_0$  and  $B_0$  are fulfilled, and that in this range of values we can find m such that

$$-2 - (N-1)q < m < 0. (3.28)$$

Combining (3.27) with (3.16) and (3.19) we derive,

$$G + P + F + U \le c(M + L + R),$$
 (3.29)

for some c > 0 depending on N, p,  $\beta$ ,  $\lambda$ ,  $\delta$  and q.

The method is now to absorb the terms  $M^*$ ,  $L^*$  and  $R^*$  by F, P and U by a repeated use of Hölder's inequality. Following the method developed in [10] and [5] it is simpler to return to the original function u and the original exponents, and for homogeneity reason we set  $\eta = \xi^{\kappa}$ ( $\kappa > 0$ ). Hence (3.29) yields

$$G + \overline{F} + \overline{P} + \overline{U} \le c_1(\overline{M} + \overline{L} + \overline{R})$$
(3.30)

where

(i) 
$$\overline{F} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^{m-2} |\nabla u|^{4+2e} \xi^{\kappa} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^{m-2} |\nabla u|^{4+(N-1)q} \xi^{\kappa} dx$$
(ii) 
$$\overline{R} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^{m+p-1} |\nabla u|^{q+2+2e} \xi^{\kappa} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^{m+p-1} |\nabla u|^{2+Nq} \xi^{\kappa} dx$$
(2.21)

(*ii*) 
$$\overline{P} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^{m+p-1} \left| \nabla u \right|^{q+2+2e} \xi^{\kappa} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^{m+p-1} \left| \nabla u \right|^{2+Nq} \xi^{\kappa} dx$$
(3.31)

(*iii*) 
$$\overline{U} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^{m+2p} |\nabla u|^{2q+2e} \xi^{\kappa} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^{m+2p} |\nabla u|^{(N+1)q} \xi^{\kappa} dx$$

and

(i) 
$$\overline{M} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^m |\nabla u|^{2+2e} \left(\xi |\Delta \xi| + |\nabla \xi|^2\right) \xi^{\kappa-2} dx$$
  
(ii) 
$$\overline{L} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^{m-1} |\nabla u|^{3+2e} |\nabla \xi| \xi^{\kappa-1} dx$$
 (3.32)

(*iii*) 
$$\overline{R} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^{m+p} |\nabla u|^{q+1+2e} |\nabla \xi| \xi^{\kappa-1} dx.$$

Absorption of  $\overline{L}$ . Using Hölder's inequality we have

$$\begin{split} \overline{L} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left( \xi^{\alpha} u^{m-1-A} \left| \nabla u \right|^B \right) \left( \xi^{\gamma} u^A \left| \nabla u \right|^{3+2e-B} \right) \left( \xi^{\kappa-1-\alpha-\gamma} \left| \nabla \xi \right| \right) dx \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \xi^{\theta\alpha} u^{\theta(m-1-A)} \left| \nabla u \right|^{\theta B} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \xi^{t\gamma} u^{tA} \left| \nabla u \right|^{t(3+2e-B)} dx \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \xi^{2\sigma(\kappa-1-\alpha-\gamma)} \left| \nabla \xi \right|^{2\sigma} dx, \end{split}$$

with

$$\frac{1}{\theta} + \frac{1}{t} + \frac{1}{2\sigma} = 1.$$
(3.33)

We choose the unknown exponents so that  $\overline{L} \leq \overline{F} + \overline{P} + \text{terms in } \xi$ . We find

$$A = \frac{m+p-1}{t}, \ B = \frac{4+2e}{\theta},$$

for the exponents of  $|\nabla u|$ ,

$$\alpha = \frac{\kappa}{\theta}, \ \gamma = \frac{\kappa}{t} \text{ and } \kappa = 1 + \frac{\kappa}{\theta} + \frac{\kappa}{t} = 2\sigma,$$

for the ones of  $\xi$  and

$$\theta(m-1-A) = m-2$$
 and  $t(3+2e-B) = q+2e+2$ ,

for the ones of u. Eliminating A and B leads to a linear system in t and  $\theta$ ,

$$\frac{m+p-1}{t} + \frac{m-2}{\theta} = m-1$$
(3.34)
$$\frac{q+2+2e}{t} + \frac{4+2e}{\theta} = 3+2e.$$

The direct computation shows that

$$\frac{1}{t} = \frac{m+2e+2}{(2-q)m+2\left((2+e)p+q+e\right)}, \ \frac{1}{\theta} = \frac{(1-m)(q-1)+(3+2e)p}{(2-q)m+2\left((2+e)p+q+e\right)},$$
(3.35)

hence

$$2\sigma = \frac{(2-q)m + 2\left((2+e)p + q + e\right)\right)}{p+q-1}.$$
(3.36)

We set  $Y = 2\sigma(p+q-1) = \theta X$ , hence

$$Y = ((2-q)m + (N-1)pq + 4p + (N+1)q$$

and

$$X = (1 - m)(q - 1) + (N - 1)pq + 3p.$$

First we check that under (3.28) Y > 0. Indeed we have

$$Y - 2(p+q-1) = (2-q)m + (N-1)pq + 2p + (N-1)q + 2$$
  

$$\geq (2-q)m + (N-1)pq + 2p - m$$
  

$$= (1-q)m + p(2 + (N-1)q),$$
(3.37)

from (3.28). If  $0 \le q < 1$  the right-hand side of (3.37) is larger than (p+q-1)(2+(N-1)q) which is positive, while if  $q \ge 1$  and  $m \le 0$ , the right-hand side is larger than m(1-p-q) which is nonnegative. Next we check that X > 0: if  $q \ge 1$  this is clear by (3.28). If  $0 \le q < 1$  we have, also by (3.28),

$$X \ge -(3 + (N-1)q)(1-q) + ((N-1)q+3)p = (3 + (N-1)q)(p+q-1) > 0.$$

As a by-product we derive that  $\theta$  and t are positive and therefore larger than 1 because of (3.33).

Absorption of  $\overline{R}$ . We introduce new parameters  $A, B, t, \theta$  in order to absorb  $\overline{R}$  by  $\overline{P} + \overline{U} +$  term in  $\xi$ .

$$\overline{R} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left( \xi^{\alpha} u^{m+p-A} |\nabla u|^B \right) \left( \xi^{\gamma} u^A |\nabla u|^{q+1+2e-B} \right) \left( \xi^{\kappa-1-\alpha-\gamma} |\nabla \xi| \right) dx$$
  
$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \xi^{\theta\alpha} u^{\theta(m+p-A)} |\nabla u|^{\theta B} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \xi^{t\gamma} u^{tA} |\nabla u|^{t(q+1+2e-B)} dx$$
  
$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \xi^{2\sigma(\kappa-1-\alpha-\gamma)} |\nabla \xi|^{2\sigma} dx,$$

with  $t, \theta$  and  $\sigma$  satisfying (3.33). Hence

$$(m+p-A)\theta = m+p-1$$
  

$$B\theta = q+2+2e$$
  

$$At = m+2p$$
  

$$(q+1+2e-B)t = 2q+e.$$
(3.38)

Thus

$$\frac{m+2p}{t} + \frac{m+p-1}{\theta} = m+p$$
$$\frac{2q+e}{t} + \frac{q+2+2e}{\theta} = q+1+2e$$

Mutatis mutandis it yields, always with  $\sigma = 2\kappa$  given by (3.36),

$$\frac{1}{\theta} = \frac{m(1-q) + 2(e+1)p}{Y}, \ \frac{1}{t} = \frac{m+p+q+1+2e}{Y},$$
(3.39)

where Y is unchanged. Condition (3.28) implies  $m + p + q + 1 + 2e \ge p + q - 1 > 0$ , hence t > 0. Furthermore

$$m(1-q) + 2(e+1)p > (m+2+2e)(1-q) = (m+2+(N-1)q)(1-q) > 0.$$

which implies  $\theta > 0$  if  $q \leq 1$ . If q > 1 and since m < 0, then

$$m(1-q) + 2(e+1)p > 2(e+1)p > 0,$$

which again yields  $\theta > 0$ .

Absorption of  $\overline{M}$ . We set

$$\begin{split} \overline{M}_{1} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u^{m} \left| \nabla u \right|^{2+2e} \left| \Delta \xi \right| \xi^{\kappa-1} dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left( \xi^{\alpha} u^{m-A} \left| \nabla u \right|^{B} \right) \left( \xi^{\gamma} u^{A} \left| \nabla u \right|^{2+2e-B} \right) \left( \xi^{\kappa-1-\alpha-\gamma} \left| \Delta \xi \right| \right) dx \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \xi^{\theta \alpha} u^{\theta(m-A)} \left| \nabla u \right|^{\theta B} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \xi^{t\gamma} u^{tA} \left| \nabla u \right|^{t(2+2e-B)} dx \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \xi^{2\sigma(\kappa-1-\alpha-\gamma)} \left| \Delta \xi \right|^{\sigma} dx, \end{split}$$

with

$$\frac{1}{\theta} + \frac{1}{t} + \frac{1}{\sigma} = 1.$$
 (3.40)

If we try to absorb  $\overline{M}_1$  by  $\overline{F} + \overline{U} + \text{term in } \xi$ , we obtain

$$(m - A)\theta = m - 2$$
  

$$B\theta = 4 + 2e$$
  

$$At = m + 2p$$
  

$$(2 + 2e - B)t = 2q + 2e.$$
  
(3.41)

We find

$$\frac{1}{\theta} = \frac{m(1-q) + 2(e+1)p}{Y}, \ \frac{1}{t} = \frac{m+2+2e}{Y}.$$
(3.42)

Clearly (3.40) holds and conditions m(1-q) + 2(e+1)p > 0 and m+2+2e > 0 are satisfied under the same condition as for the treatment of  $\overline{R}$ . The same proof works for  $\overline{M}_2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^m |\nabla u|^{2+2e} |\nabla \xi|^2 \xi^{\kappa-2} dx.$ 

Step 4: End of the proof. It follows from Step 3 that there holds for any nonnegative  $\xi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ :

$$\overline{L} + \overline{F} + \overline{U} \le c_3 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left( |\Delta \xi|^{\sigma} + |\nabla \xi|^{2\sigma} \right) dx.$$
(3.43)

Assuming  $\xi$  has support in  $B_1$  and applying (3.43) to  $\xi_R : x \mapsto \xi(\frac{x}{R})$ , we derive

$$\overline{L} + \overline{F} + \overline{U} \le c_3 R^{N-2\sigma} \int_{B_1} \left( |\Delta \xi|^{\sigma} + |\nabla \xi|^{2\sigma} \right) dx.$$
(3.44)

Hence, if  $2\sigma > N$  we infer  $\overline{L} + \overline{F} + \overline{U} = 0$  by letting  $R \to \infty$ . It remains to prove that such an estimate holds. The condition  $2\sigma > N$  is equivalent to

$$m(2 - pq + (N - 1)pq + N + q > (N - 4)p,$$
(3.45)

or, equivalently,

$$(2-q)(m+2+(N-1)q) > (p+q-1)(N-4-(N-1)q).$$
(3.46)

Since the left-hand side is positive by (3.28), this inequality holds at least when

$$N = 3,4 \text{ or } N \ge 5 \text{ and } q \ge \frac{N-4}{N-1}.$$
 (3.47)

The general proof of (3.28), (3.46) is technical and given in Appendix.

# 4 Separable solutions

In the sequel we set n = N - 1, and consider a more general equation on  $S^n$ ,

$$-\Delta'\omega + \mu\omega = \omega^p (\gamma^2 \omega^2 + \left|\nabla'\omega\right|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}},\tag{4.1}$$

where  $\gamma > 0$  and  $\mu$  are parameters and  $\Delta'$  and  $\nabla'$  are respectively the Laplace-Beltrami operator and the covariant gradient, which can be assimilated to the tangential gradient on  $S^n$ . Notice that if  $\mu > 0$  there exists a constant solution  $\omega_{\mu}$  to (4.1) given by

$$\omega_{\mu} = \left(\frac{\mu}{\gamma^q}\right)^{\frac{1}{p+q-1}}.$$
(4.2)

#### 4.1 Uniform bounds: Proof of Theorem D

We set  $a \lor b = \max\{a, b\}$  and  $a \land b = \min\{a, b\}$ . By integration on  $S^n$  and Hölder's inequality there holds

$$\mu \left| S^n \right|^{\frac{p+q-1}{p+q}} \left( \int_{S^n} \omega^{p+q} dS \right)^{\frac{1}{p+q}} \ge \mu \int_{S^n} \omega dS = \int_{S^n} \omega^p (\gamma^2 \omega^2 + \left| \nabla' \omega \right|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}} dS \ge \gamma^q \int_{S^n} \omega^{p+q} dS.$$

Hence

$$\|\omega\|_{L^{p+q}} \le \left(\frac{\mu}{\gamma^q}\right)^{\frac{1}{p+q-1}} |S^n|^{\frac{1}{p+q}}.$$
 (4.3)

Therefore

$$\mu \int_{S^n} \omega dS = \int_{S^n} \omega^p (\gamma^2 \omega^2 + |\nabla' \omega|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}} dS \le \left(\frac{\mu^{p+q}}{\gamma^q}\right)^{\frac{1}{p+q-1}} |S^n|.$$

$$(4.4)$$

For  $\alpha > 0$ , we also have

$$\int_{S^n} \omega^{p+\alpha} \left( \gamma^2 \omega^2 + |\nabla'\omega|^2 \right)^{\frac{q}{2}} dS = \int_{S^n} \left( \alpha \omega^{\alpha-1} |\nabla'\omega|^2 + \mu \omega^{\alpha+1} \right) dS$$
$$\geq \mu \wedge \frac{4\alpha}{(\alpha+1)^2} \int_{S^n} \left( \left| \nabla'\omega^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2}} \right|^2 + (\omega^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2}})^2 \right) dS \qquad (4.5)$$
$$\geq C_1 \left( \mu \wedge \frac{4\alpha}{(\alpha+1)^2} \right) \|\omega\|_{L^{\frac{n(\alpha+1)}{n-2}}}^{\alpha+1},$$

using Sobolev inequality in  $H^1(S^n)$ . Furthermore, by Hölder's inequality,

$$\int_{S^n} \omega^{p+\alpha} \left(\gamma^2 \omega^2 + |\nabla'\omega|^2\right)^{\frac{q}{2}} dS = \int_{S^n} \omega^{p+\alpha+q\frac{1-\alpha}{2}} \left(\gamma^2 (\omega^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2}})^2 + \frac{4}{(\alpha+1)^2} \left|\nabla'\omega^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2}}\right|^2\right)^{\frac{q}{2}} dS$$

$$\leq \gamma^q \vee \left(\frac{2}{1+\alpha}\right)^q \left(\int_{S^n} \omega^{\frac{2p+q}{2-q}+\alpha} dS\right)^{\frac{2-q}{2}} \left(\int_{S^n} \left(\left|\nabla'\omega^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2}}\right|^2 + (\omega^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2}})^2\right) dS\right)^{\frac{q}{2}}.$$
(4.6)

It implies

$$\int_{S^n} \left( \left| \nabla' \omega^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2}} \right|^2 + (\omega^{\frac{\alpha+1}{2}})^2 \right) dS \le \left( \gamma \vee \frac{2}{1+\alpha} \right)^{\frac{2q}{2-q}} \int_{S^n} \omega^{\frac{2p+q}{2-q}+\alpha} dS.$$
(4.7)

Jointly with (4.5) it yields

$$\|\omega\|_{L^{\frac{n(\alpha+1)}{n-2}}}^{\alpha+1} \le C_2 \frac{\left(\gamma \lor (1+\alpha)^{-1}\right)^{\frac{2q}{2-q}}}{\mu \land \alpha(\alpha+1)^{-2}} \int_{S^n} \omega^{\frac{2p+q}{2-q}+\alpha} dS.$$
(4.8)

We define the sequence  $\{\alpha_k\}$  by

$$\frac{2p+q}{2-q} + \alpha_k = \frac{n(\alpha_{k-1}+1)}{n-2} \iff \alpha_k + 1 = \frac{n(\alpha_{k-1}+1)}{n-2} - 2\frac{p+q-1}{2-q}.$$
 (4.9)

The value of  $\alpha_0 > 0$  will be made precise later on. The value of  $\alpha_k$  is explicit:

$$\alpha_k + 1 = \left(\frac{n}{n-2}\right)^k \left(\alpha_0 + 1 - \frac{(p+q-1)(n-2)}{2-q}\right) + \frac{(p+q-1)(n-2)}{2-q}.$$
(4.10)

Notice that since (n-2)p + (n-1)q < n, then  $1 - \frac{(p+q-1)(n-2)}{2-q} > 0$ . Asymptotically

$$\alpha_k + 1 = A\ell^k + O(1) \quad \text{with } \ell = \frac{n}{n-2} > 1.$$
 (4.11)

We set  $X_k = \|\omega\|_{L^{\frac{n(\alpha_k+1)}{n-2}}}$ , hence (4.8) reads

$$X_{k} \leq \left(C_{2} \frac{\left(\gamma \vee (1+\alpha_{k})^{-1}\right)^{\frac{2q}{2-q}}}{\mu \wedge \alpha_{k}(\alpha_{k}+1)^{-2}}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+\alpha_{k}}} X_{k-1}^{1+2\frac{p+q-1}{(2-q)(\alpha_{k}+1)}}.$$
(4.12)

Because of (4.11),

$$C_{2} \frac{\left(\gamma \vee (1+\alpha_{k})^{-1}\right)^{\frac{2q}{2-q}}}{\mu \wedge \alpha_{k}(\alpha_{k}+1)^{-2}} \leq C_{3} \alpha_{k}^{-1} \gamma^{\frac{2q}{2-q}}$$
$$\Longrightarrow \left(C_{2} \frac{\left(\gamma \vee (1+\alpha_{k})^{-1}\right)^{\frac{2q}{2-q}}}{\mu \wedge \alpha_{k}(\alpha_{k}+1)^{-2}}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+\alpha_{k}}} \leq C_{4}^{\frac{1}{1+\alpha_{k}}} \gamma^{\frac{2q}{(1+\alpha_{k})(2-q)}}$$

provided  $\alpha_0 \ge \epsilon_0 > 0$ , hence

$$X_k \le C_4^{\frac{1}{1+\alpha_k}} \gamma^{\frac{2q}{(1+\alpha_k)(2-q)}} X_{k-1}^{1+2\frac{p+q-1}{(2-q)(\alpha_k+1)}}.$$
(4.13)

Next we construct by induction an increasing sequence  $\Gamma_k$  such that

$$X_{k-1} \le \Gamma_{k-1} \gamma^{-\frac{q}{p+q-1}}.$$
(4.14)

Then (4.14) holds at the order k with

$$\Gamma_k = C_4^{\frac{1}{1+\alpha_k}} \Gamma_{k-1}^{1+2\frac{p+q-1}{(2-q)(\alpha_k+1)}},\tag{4.15}$$

and  $\Gamma_0$  will be fixed later on. We can assume that  $C_4 \ge 1$ , therefore  $\{\Gamma_k\}$  is increasing. If we put  $\theta_k = \ln \Gamma_k$ , then

$$\theta_k = \frac{1}{1 + \alpha_k} \ln C_4 + \left(1 + 2\frac{p + q - 1}{(2 - q)(\alpha_k + 1)}\right) \theta_{k-1} = \frac{A}{1 + \alpha_k} + \left(1 + \frac{B}{1 + \alpha_k}\right) \theta_{k-1}$$

Put  $\tilde{\theta}_k = \theta_k + \frac{A}{B}$ , then

$$\tilde{\theta}_k = \left(1 + \frac{B}{1 + \alpha_k}\right) \tilde{\theta}_{k-1} \Longrightarrow \tilde{\theta}_k = \tilde{\theta}_0 \prod_{j=1}^k \left(1 + \frac{B}{1 + \alpha_j}\right)$$

Finally

$$\theta_k = \left(\theta_0 + \frac{A}{B}\right) \prod_{j=1}^k \left(1 + \frac{B}{1 + \alpha_j}\right) - \frac{A}{B},\tag{4.16}$$

This infer that there exists

$$\Gamma^* = \lim_{k \to \infty} \Gamma_k. \tag{4.17}$$

By standard linear elliptic regularity theory with  $L^1$  data and (4.4),

$$\begin{aligned} \|\omega\|_{L^{\frac{n}{n-2},\infty}} + \|\nabla'\omega\|_{L^{\frac{n}{n-1},\infty}} &\leq C_5 \int_{S^n} \left(\omega^p (\gamma^2 \omega^2 + |\nabla'\omega|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}} + \mu\omega\right) dS \\ &\leq 2C_5 \left(\frac{\mu^{p+q}}{\gamma^q}\right)^{\frac{1}{p+q-1}} |S^n|, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.18)$$

where in  $L^{r,\infty}$  denotes the usual Marcinkiewicz spaces (or Lorentz spaces). For any  $1 < \tau < \frac{n}{n-1}$ , there exists  $C_6 = C_(n, \tau)$  such that

$$\left\|\omega\right\|_{W^{1,\tau}} \le C_6 \left(\left\|\omega\right\|_{L^{\frac{n}{n-2},\infty}} + \left\|\nabla'\omega\right\|_{L^{\frac{n}{n-1},\infty}}\right),$$

and by Sobolev inequality

$$\|\omega\|_{L^{\tau^*}} \le C_7 \|\omega\|_{W^{1,\tau}},$$

where  $\frac{1}{\tau^*} = \frac{1}{\tau} - \frac{1}{n}$ . Since n(p-2) + q(n-1) < n is equivalent to  $\frac{2p+q}{2-q} < \frac{n}{n-2}$ , we can take  $\frac{1}{\tau} = \left(\frac{2-q}{2p+q} + \alpha_1\right)^{-1} + \frac{1}{n}$  for some  $\alpha_1 > 0$ . Using (4.9) we define the initial data of  $\{\alpha_k\}$  by

$$\frac{2p+q}{2-q} + \alpha_1 = \frac{n(\alpha_0 + 1)}{n-2}$$

and we derive

$$X_0 = \|\omega\|_{L^{\frac{n(\alpha_0+1)}{n-2}}} = \|\omega\|_{L^{\frac{2p+q}{2-q}+\alpha_1}} \le C_8 \left(\frac{\mu^{p+q}}{\gamma^q}\right)^{\frac{1}{p+q-1}}.$$
(4.19)

Finally, we can fix

$$e^{\theta_0} = \Gamma_0 = C_8 \mu^{\frac{p+q}{p+q-1}},$$

and derive from (4.16)

$$\Gamma^* = C_9 e^{\theta_0 \frac{A}{B} \prod_{j=0}^{\infty} (1 + \frac{B}{1 + \alpha_j})} = c_{10} \mu^{\frac{p+q}{p+q-1} \frac{A}{B} \prod_{j=0}^{\infty} (1 + \frac{B}{1 + \alpha_j})}$$
(4.20)

with

$$C_9 = e^{\frac{A}{B} \prod_{j=0}^{\infty} (1 + \frac{B}{1 + \alpha_j}) - \frac{A}{B}} \text{ and } c_{10} = C_9 C_8^{\frac{A}{B} \prod_{j=0}^{\infty} (1 + \frac{B}{1 + \alpha_j})}$$

Since

 $\|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \gamma^{-\frac{q}{p+q-1}} \Gamma^*,$ 

the estimate follows.

*Remark.* We conjecture that the best exponent a is equal to 1 and

$$\|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C_{11} \left(\frac{\mu}{\gamma^q}\right)^{\frac{1}{p+q-1}}.$$
(4.21)

Notice that there always holds

$$\min_{S^n} \omega \le \left(\frac{\mu}{\gamma^q}\right)^{\frac{1}{p+q-1}} \le \max_{S^n} \omega.$$
(4.22)

# 4.2 Rigidity and symmetry

**Theorem 4.1** Assume  $\gamma$ ,  $\mu > 0$ , p + q - 1 > 0 and  $\omega$  is a solution of (4.1) on  $S^n$  such that

(i) 
$$\gamma^{2}\omega^{2} + |\nabla'\omega|^{2} \le c_{1}^{2}$$
 if  $p \ge 1$ ),  
(ii)  $c_{2}^{2} \le \gamma^{2}\omega^{2} + |\nabla'\omega|^{2} \le c_{1}^{2}$  if  $0 \le p < 1$ ),  
(4.23)

for some  $c_1, c_2 > 0$  and set

$$c_* = \begin{cases} c_1 & \text{if } p \ge 1, \\ \frac{p-1}{c_2^{p+q-1}} c_1^{\frac{q}{p+q-1}} & \text{if } 0 \le p < 1. \end{cases}$$
(4.24)

If  $c^*$  satisfies

$$c_*^{p+q-1} \le \frac{2(n+\mu)}{q\gamma^{-p}\sqrt{n} + 2(p+q)\gamma^{1-p}},$$
(4.25)

then  $\omega$  is constant.

*Proof.* If w is a function defined on  $S^n$ , we put

$$\bar{w} = \frac{1}{|S^n|} \int_{S^n} w(\sigma) dS$$

 $\mathbf{If}$ 

$$-\Delta'\omega + \mu\omega - |\omega|^{p-1}\omega(\gamma^2\omega^2 + |\nabla'\omega|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}} = 0, \qquad (4.26)$$

we have

$$-\Delta'\bar{\omega} + \mu\bar{\omega} - \overline{|\omega|^{p-1}\omega(\gamma^2\omega^2 + |\nabla'\omega|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}}} = 0.$$

Since  $\overline{w - \overline{w}} = 0$ ,  $\overline{w}$  in the orthogonal projection in  $L^2(S^n)$  of w on  $ker(-\Delta')$  and n is the first nonzero eigenvalue, we have

$$\int_{S^n} \left( \omega^p (\gamma^2 \omega + |\nabla' \omega|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}} - \overline{\omega^p (\gamma^2 \omega^2 + |\nabla' \omega|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}}} \right) (\omega - \bar{\omega}) dS$$

$$= \int_{S^n} \left( \omega^p (\gamma^2 \omega^2 + |\nabla' \omega|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}} - \bar{\omega}^p (\gamma^2 \bar{\omega}^2 + |\nabla' \bar{\omega}|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}} \right) (\omega - \bar{\omega}) dS$$

$$(4.27)$$

and

$$\int_{S^n} \left( -\Delta'(\omega - \bar{\omega} + \mu(\omega - \bar{\omega})) \right) (\omega - \bar{\omega}) dS = \int_{S^n} \left( |\nabla'(\omega - \bar{\omega})|^2 + \mu(\omega - \bar{\omega})^2 \right) dS$$

$$\geq (\mu + n) \int_{S^n} (\omega - \bar{\omega})^2 dS$$

$$(4.28)$$

Set  $F(X,Y) = |X|^{p-1} X(\gamma^2 X^2 + |Y|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}}$  and

$$G:=\{(X,Y)\in\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}^n:c_2^2\leq\gamma^2X^2+|Y|^2\leq c_1^2\}$$

Then

$$D_1 F(X,Y) = |X|^{p-1} \left( \gamma^2 X^2 + |Y|^2 \right)^{\frac{q}{2}-1} \left( \gamma^2 (p+q) |X|^2 + p |Y|^2 \right)$$
$$D_2 F(X,Y) = q |X|^{p-1} X \left( \gamma^2 X^2 + |Y|^2 \right)^{\frac{q}{2}-1} Y$$

If we assume that  $(\omega, \nabla' \omega) \in G$ , we have, with  $\xi = |\omega - \bar{\omega}|$  and  $\eta = |\nabla'(\omega - \bar{\omega})$ ,

$$\sup\{ |D_1 F(\omega, \nabla'\omega)| : (\omega, \nabla'\omega) \in G \} \le \begin{cases} (p+q)\gamma^{1-p}c_1^{p+q-1} & \text{if } p \ge 1, \\ (p+q)\gamma^{1-p}c_2^{p-1}c_1^q & \text{if } 0 \le p < 1. \end{cases}$$

and, since  $|\omega| |\nabla' \omega| \leq \frac{1}{2\gamma} (\gamma^2 \omega^2 + |\nabla' \omega|^2)$ ,

$$\sup\{\left|D_{2}F(\omega,\nabla'\omega)\right|: (\omega,\nabla'\omega) \in G\} \leq \begin{cases} \frac{q}{2}\gamma^{-p}c_{1}^{p+q-1} & \text{if } p \geq 1, \\ \frac{q}{2}\gamma^{-p}c_{2}^{p-1}c_{1}^{q} & \text{if } 0 \leq p < 1. \end{cases}$$
$$\int_{S^{n}} (\eta^{2} + \mu\xi^{2})dS \leq \gamma^{1-p}c_{*}^{p+q-1} \int_{S^{n}} \left((p+q)\xi^{2} + \frac{q}{2}\gamma\eta\xi\right)dS. \tag{4.29}$$

 $\operatorname{Set}$ 

$$\Xi := \left( \int_{S^n} \xi^2 dS \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \text{ and } H := \left( \int_{S^n} \eta^2 dS \right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

and recall that  $c_*$  is defined in (4.24). Then  $\sqrt{n\Xi} \leq H$ . We define the polynomials

$$P(\Xi, H) = H^2 - \frac{q}{2}\gamma^{-p}c_*^{p+q-1}H\Xi + (\mu - (p+q)\gamma^{1-p}c_*^{p+q-1})\Xi^2.$$

and, putting  $T = \frac{H}{\Xi}$  when  $\Xi > 0$ , we have

$$\mathcal{P}(T) = T^2 - \frac{q}{2}\gamma^{-p}c_*^{p+q-1}T + \mu - (p+q)\gamma^{1-p}c_*^{p+q-1}.$$
(4.30)

Then  $T \ge \sqrt{n}$  since *n* is the first nonzero eigenvalue of  $-\Delta'$  in  $H^1(S^n)$ . Next we suppose that  $\mathcal{P}(\sqrt{n}) \ge 0$ . This means

$$n - \frac{q}{2}\gamma^{-p}c_*^{p+q-1}\sqrt{n} + \mu - (p+q)\gamma^{1-p}c_*^{p+q-1} \ge 0,$$
(4.31)

and it is equivalent to

$$\left(\frac{q}{2}\gamma^{-p}\sqrt{n} + (p+q)\gamma^{1-p}\right)c_*^{p+q-1} \le n+\mu.$$
(4.32)

We have three possibilities:

(i) either  $\Xi > 0$  and

$$\frac{q^2}{4}\gamma^{-2p}c_*^{2(p+q-1)} + 4(p+q)\gamma^{1-p}c_*^{p+q-1} \ge 4\mu,$$
(4.33)

then the polynomial  $\mathcal{P}$  admits two real roots  $T_1 \leq T_2$  and  $\mathcal{P}(T) \leq 0$ . Jointly with the constraint on T it means

$$T_1 \le T \le T_2 \le \sqrt{n} \le T.$$

Then  $T = \sqrt{nT}$ , which implies  $\omega - \bar{\omega} = \tau \phi_1$  for some  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}^*$ . This is not compatible with the fact that  $\omega$  solves (4.26).

(ii) either  $\Xi > 0$  and

$$\frac{q^2}{4}\gamma^{-2p}c_*^{2(p+q-1)} + (p+q)\gamma^{1-p}c_1^{p+q-1} < 4\mu.$$
(4.34)

Then  $\mathcal{P}$  remains positive, which is impossible because of (4.29),

(iii) or  $\Xi = 0$ . In such a case  $\omega = \bar{\omega}$ ,  $\omega$  is a constant and  $\nabla' \omega = 0$ . Therefore, if (4.32) holds  $\omega = \bar{\omega}$  which ends the proof.

*Remark.* We notice that if we suppose q = 0 in (4.32) we find back condition (2.53) in [13, Th 2.2].

#### 4.3 Bifurcation

In this paragraph we are interested in solution of (4.1) which bifurcate from the constant solution  $\omega_{\mu_*}$  defined by (4.2) with  $\mu_* = \frac{n}{p+q-1}$ .

**Theorem 4.2** Assume  $\gamma > 0$ , p + q - 1 > 0, and set  $\mu_* = \frac{n}{p+q-1}$ . Then there exists a neighborhood  $\mathcal{O}$  of  $(\mu_*, \omega_{\mu_*})$  in  $\mathbb{R} \times C^1(S^n)$  such that if  $\omega$  is a solution of (4.1) in  $S^n$  such that  $(\mu, \omega) \in \mathcal{O}$ , there holds either  $(\mu, \omega) = (\mu, 0)$  or  $\mu > 0$ ,  $(\mu, \omega) = (\mu_* + \epsilon(s), \omega_{\mu_*} + s(\phi_1 + \phi(s)))$  where  $s \mapsto \epsilon(s)$  is a  $C^1$  positive function defined on  $[0, \tau]$ , vanishing at s = 0 and  $s \mapsto \phi(s)$  is a  $C^1$  function defined on  $[0, \tau]$ , vanishing at s = 0

*Proof.* We set

$$\mathcal{L}(\omega) = -\Delta'\omega + \mu\omega - \omega^p (\gamma^2 \omega^2 + |\nabla'\omega|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}}.$$

We look for solutions under the form  $\omega = \omega_{\mu_*} + \phi$  with  $\phi$  small. Then

$$\begin{split} \omega^{p}(\gamma^{2}\omega^{2} + |\nabla'\omega|^{2})^{\frac{q}{2}} &= (\omega_{\mu} + \phi)^{p} \left(\gamma^{2}(\omega_{\mu} + \phi)^{2} + |\nabla'\phi|^{2}\right)^{\frac{q}{2}} \\ &= \gamma^{q}\omega_{\mu}^{p+q}(1 + \frac{1}{\omega_{\mu}}\phi)^{p} \left(1 + \frac{2}{\omega_{\mu}}\phi + \frac{1}{\omega_{\mu}^{2}}\phi^{2} + \frac{1}{\gamma^{2}\omega_{\mu}^{2}}\left|\nabla'\phi\right|^{2}\right)^{\frac{q}{2}} \\ &= \gamma^{q}\omega_{\mu}^{p+q} \left(1 + \frac{p}{\omega_{\mu}}\phi + \frac{p(p-1)}{2\omega^{2}}\phi^{2}\right) \left(1 + \frac{q}{\omega_{\mu}}\phi + + \frac{q(q-1)}{2\omega_{*}^{2}}\phi^{2} + \frac{q}{2\gamma^{2}\omega_{\mu}^{2}}\left|\nabla'\phi\right|^{2}\right) \\ &+ O(\phi^{3} + \phi \left|\nabla'\phi\right|^{2}) \\ &= \gamma^{q}\omega_{\mu}^{p+q} \left(1 + \frac{p+q}{\omega_{\mu}}\phi + \frac{(p+q)(p+q-1)}{2\omega_{\mu}^{2}}\phi^{2} + \frac{q}{2\gamma^{2}\omega_{\mu}^{2}}\left|\nabla'\phi\right|^{2}\right) \\ &+ O(\phi^{3} + \phi \left|\nabla'\phi\right|^{2}). \end{split}$$

Then, because of the value of  $\omega_{\mu}$  and  $\gamma$ ,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}(\omega_{\mu} + \phi) &= -\Delta'\phi + \mu\omega_{\mu} + \mu\phi - \gamma^{q}\omega_{\mu}^{p+q} \left( 1 + \frac{p+q}{\omega_{\mu}}\phi + \frac{(p+q)(p+q-1)}{2\omega_{\mu}^{2}}\phi^{2} + \frac{q}{2\gamma^{2}\omega_{\mu}^{2}} \left|\nabla'\phi\right|^{2} \right) \\ &+ O(\phi^{3} + \phi \left|\nabla'\phi\right|^{2}) \\ &= -\Delta'\phi + \left(\mu - (p+q)\gamma^{q}\omega_{\mu}^{p+q-1}\right)\phi \\ &- \frac{(p+q)(p+q-1)}{2}\gamma^{q}\omega_{\mu}^{p+q-2}\phi^{2} - \frac{q}{2}\gamma^{q-2}\omega_{\mu}^{p+q-2} \left|\nabla'\phi\right|^{2} \\ &+ O(\phi^{3} + \phi \left|\nabla'\phi\right|^{2}). \end{split}$$

Since  $\gamma^q \omega_\mu^{p+q-1} = \mu$ 

$$\mathcal{L}(\omega_{\mu} + \phi) = -\Delta'\phi - \mu\phi - \frac{(p+q)(p+q-1)}{2}\gamma^{q}\omega_{\mu}^{p+q-2}\phi^{2} - \frac{q}{2}\gamma^{q-2}\omega_{\mu}^{p+q-2} |\nabla'\phi|^{2} + O(\phi^{3} + \phi |\nabla'\phi|^{2}).$$
(4.35)

If

$$\mu(p+q-1) = n \iff \mu := \mu_* = \frac{n}{p+q-1},\tag{4.36}$$

we can take  $\phi = \epsilon \phi_1$  where  $\epsilon$  is small and  $\phi_1$  is the first non-zero eigenfunction (with corresponding eigenvalue n). Then

$$\mathcal{L}(\omega_{\mu} + \epsilon \phi_1) = -\epsilon^2 \omega_{\mu}^{p+q-2} \gamma^{q-2} \left( \frac{(p+q)(p+q-1)}{2} \gamma^2 \phi_1^2 + \frac{q}{2} |\nabla' \phi_1|^2 \right) + O(\epsilon^3).$$
(4.37)

We want to apply [18, Th 13.4, 13.5, Ex 2 p. 174] and we consider solutions of

$$-\Delta'\omega + \mu\omega - |\omega|^{p-1}\omega(\gamma^2\omega^2 + |\nabla'\omega|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}} = 0$$

$$(4.38)$$

depending only on the azimuthal angle  $\theta_n := \theta \in (0, \pi)$ , which means

$$-\omega_{\theta\theta} - (n-1)\cot_{\theta}\omega_{\theta} + \mu\omega - |\omega|^{p-1}\omega(\gamma^2\omega^2 + \omega_{\theta}^2)^{\frac{q}{2}}.$$
(4.39)

and denote by  $C_{rad}^{2,\delta}(S^n)$  ( $\delta \in (0,1)$ ) the space of  $C^{2,\delta}$  functions depending only on the angle  $\theta$  (and thus radial with respect to the other variables  $(\theta_1, ..., \theta_{n-1})$ ). The critical constant solution  $\omega_{\mu}$  is expressed by

$$\omega_{\mu_*} = (\gamma^{-q} \mu_*)^{\frac{1}{p+q-1}}.$$

Since the bifurcation point in [18] are taken at  $(\mu_*, \omega_{\mu_*})$ , we put  $\omega = \omega_{\mu_*} + w$  and

$$f(\mu, w) = -\Delta' w + \mu(\omega_{\mu_*} + w) - |\omega_{\mu_*} + w|^{p-1}(\omega_{\mu_*} + w)(\gamma^2(\omega_{\mu_*} + w)^2 + |\nabla' w|^2)^{\frac{q}{2}}.$$

Then

$$D_2 f(\mu, 0) = -\Delta' - (p + q - 1)\mu I.$$

If  $(p+q-1)\mu = n \iff \mu = \mu_*$ , then ker $D_2 f(\mu_*, 0)$  is spanned by  $\phi_1 : \theta \mapsto \cos \theta$  and

$$\mathcal{R}(D_2 f(\mu_*, 0)) = \left\{ \psi \in C^{\delta}_{rad}(S^n) : \int_{S^n} \psi \phi_1 dS = 0 \right\}.$$

Finally  $D_1 D_2 f(\mu_*, 0)(\mu, v) = -(p+q-1)\mu v$  thus  $D_1 D_2 f(\mu_*, 0)(\mu_*, \phi_1)$  does not belong to  $R(D_2 f(\mu_*, 0))$ . Therefore the bifurcation theorem applies and there exists  $\epsilon > 0$  a  $C^1$  curve  $s \mapsto (\mu(s), \phi(s))$  defined on  $[-\epsilon, \epsilon]$  with value in  $\mathbb{R} \times R(D_2 f(\mu_*, \omega_\mu))$  such that

(i) 
$$\mu(0) = \mu_*$$
  
(ii)  $\phi(0) = 0$  (4.40)  
(iii)  $f(\mu(s), s(\phi_1 + \phi(s))) = 0$ 

Furthermore, there exists a neighborhood  $\mathcal{O}$  of  $(\mu_*, \omega_{\mu_*})$  in which any solution of  $f(\mu, 0) = 0$ is either  $(\mu, 0)$  or under the form  $(\mu(s), s(\phi_1 + \phi(s)))$ . Equivalently, any solution of (4.39) is either  $(\mu, \omega_{\mu})$  or is of the form  $(\mu(s), \omega_{\mu} + s(\phi_1 + \phi(s)))$ .

This is this last statement which applies in our case.

In order to see in what direction the bifurcation occurs we set  $\mu(s) = \mu_* + \epsilon$  and  $\omega = \omega_{\mu_*} + s(\phi_1 + \phi)$  where  $\epsilon = \epsilon(s)$  and  $\phi = \phi(s)$ . Then, from (4.35) with  $\mu$  replaced by  $\mu_* + \epsilon$ , we get

$$-s\Delta'(\phi_{1}+\phi) + \mu_{*}\omega_{\mu_{*}} + \epsilon\omega_{\mu_{*}} + s\mu_{*}(\phi_{1}+\phi) + s\epsilon(\phi_{1}+\phi) - \gamma^{q}\omega_{\mu_{*}}^{p+q} - s\gamma^{q}\omega_{\mu_{*}}^{p+q-1}(\phi_{1}+\phi) = \frac{\omega_{\mu_{*}}^{p+q-2}s^{2}\gamma^{q}}{2} \left( (p+q)(p+q-1)(\phi_{1}+\phi)^{2} + \gamma^{-2}q|\nabla'(\phi_{1}+\phi)|^{2} \right) + o(s^{2}),$$

$$(4.41)$$

which reduces to

$$\epsilon\omega_{\mu_*} + s\epsilon(\phi_1 + \phi) + s\left(-\Delta'\phi - (p+q-1)\mu_*\phi\right)$$

$$= \frac{\omega_{\mu_*}^{p+q-2}s^2\gamma^q}{2}\left((p+q)(p+q-1)(\phi_1 + \phi)^2 + \gamma^{-2}q|\nabla'(\phi_1 + \phi)|^2\right) + o(s^2).$$

$$\in \mathcal{R}(D_2f(\mu_*, \omega_{\mu_*}))$$

$$(4.42)$$

Since  $\phi \in \mathcal{R}(D_2 f(\mu_*, \omega_{\mu_*}))$ 

$$\int_{S^n_+} \phi \phi_1 dS = 0$$

thus

$$\epsilon \int_{S_{+}^{n}} \left( \omega_{\mu_{*}} \phi_{1} + s \phi_{1}^{2} \right) dS = \frac{\omega_{\mu_{*}}^{p+q-2} s^{2} \gamma^{q}}{2} \int_{S_{+}^{n}} \left( (p+q)(p+q-1)(\phi_{1}+\phi)^{2} + \gamma^{-2}q |\nabla'(\phi_{1}+\phi)|^{2} \right) \phi_{1} dS + o(s^{2}).$$

$$(4.43)$$

Therefore  $\epsilon > 0$  for |s| small enough and the bifurcation goes in the direction of the increasing  $\mu$ .

# 5 Appendix

#### 5.1 Position of the problem

We set for simplicity

$$h = 2e = (N-1)q \in [0, 2(N-1)].$$

The conditions to be satisfied by the parameters (m, y) are:

$$A_0 > 0, \qquad B_0 > 0, \tag{5.1}$$

with  $y \neq 1$  and with  $y \neq 1$  and

$$m < 0, \qquad m + 2 + h > 0 \tag{5.2}$$

and

$$(m+h+2)(2N-2-h) > (N-4-h)((N-1)p+h+1-N).$$
(5.3)

We denote by  $\mathcal{E}$  the ellipse of equation  $\mathcal{E}(m, y) = 0$ , where

$$\mathcal{E}(m,y) := Ky^2 + 2 \ (h+1) \ (m-1)y - 2 \ (h+1) \ y + m(m-1)$$

with

$$K = \frac{2+h}{N}(N-1+Nh).$$

Let  $\mathcal{D}_p$  be the line defined by the equation  $\mathcal{D}_p(m, y) = 0$ , where

$$\mathcal{D}_p(m,y) = y + am - bp$$

with

$$a = \frac{N+2+h}{2((N+1)h+N+2)}, \qquad b = \frac{(N-1)(h+2)}{2((N+1)h+N+2)}$$

So the conditions (5.1) are equivalent to

$$\mathcal{E}(m, y) < 0$$
 and  $\mathcal{D}_p(m, y) > 0$ ,

which means that the line  $\mathcal{D}_p$  intersect the ellipse  $\mathcal{E}$ , and (m, y) lies inside  $\mathcal{E}$  and above  $\mathcal{D}_p$  where p > 0. First we write that  $\mathcal{D}$  intersects  $\mathcal{E}$ , that means the equation  $\mathcal{E}(m, -am + bp) = 0$  has at least one root. We obtain the equation  $\mathcal{T}(m) = 0$  with

$$\mathcal{T}(m) = \left(Ka^2 - 2\frac{bh}{N-1}\right)m^2 - 2\left(bp(Ka - 1 - h) - \frac{bh}{N-1}\right)m + bp(Kbp - 2(1 + h)).$$

It is needed that its discriminant  $\mathcal{J}$  be nonnegative and it is convenient to express it in terms of t = bp, hence

$$\mathcal{J} = \left( tKa - \frac{bh}{N-1} - t(1+h) \right)^2 - \left( Kt^2 - 2(1+h)t \right) \left( Ka^2 - 2\frac{bh}{N-1} \right).$$

We notice that

$$2a(1+h) - 1 = \frac{2bh}{N-1},\tag{5.4}$$

therefore

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J} &= K^2 t^2 a^2 + \left(\frac{bh}{N-1} + t(1+h)\right)^2 - 2tKa\left(\frac{bh}{N-1} + t(1+h)\right) - K^2 t^2 a^2 \\ &\quad + 2(1+h)t\left(Ka^2 - 2\frac{bh}{N-1}\right) - 2\frac{bh}{N-1}Kt^2 \\ &= \left((1+h)^2 - 2aK(1+h) - 2\frac{bh}{N-1}K\right)t^2 + 2b\left(-\frac{h}{N-1}(1+h) - \frac{ahK}{N-1} \\ &\quad + (1+h)K\frac{a^2}{b}\right)t + \frac{b^2h^2}{(N-1)^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence  $\mathcal{J} = -\frac{b^2}{N}\tilde{G}(p,h)$  where

$$\tilde{G}(p,h) = (K - (h+1)^2)p^2 + 2\left(\frac{h(1+h)}{N-1} - \frac{a^2}{2b}\right)p + \frac{h^2}{(N-1)^2}$$
  
=  $(N-1)((N-1)h + N - 2)p^2$   
+  $\left(Nh^2 - (N^2 + N - 1)h - N^2 - N + 2\right)p - \frac{N}{N-1}h^2.$  (5.5)

So we find precisely that  $\tilde{G}(p, (N-1)q) = G(p,q)$  where the function G is given in Theorem C. The equation  $\tilde{G}(p,h) = 0$  has two roots with opposite sign in p, that we call  $= p_0(q) > 0 \ge p_1(q)$ . Both correspond to the fact that the lines  $\mathcal{D}_{p_i(q)}$  are tangent to the ellipse  $\mathcal{E}$ . The region  $\mathcal{D}_{p_1(q)}(m,y) > 0$  contains the whole region  $\mathcal{E}(m,y) < 0$  (the interior of  $\mathcal{E}$ ) while  $\mathcal{D}_{p_0(q)}(m,y) > 0$ has an empty intersection with the region  $\mathcal{E}(m,y) < 0$ . Hence for p > 0, the line  $\mathcal{D}_p$  intersect the ellipse if and only if  $p < p_0(q)$ . If q = 0, then we find that  $p_0(0) = \frac{N+2}{N-2}$ , which was the precise optimal value obtained for the Emden-Fowler equation  $-\Delta u = u^p$ . Now for  $p = p_0(q)$ , the line  $\mathcal{D}_{p_0(q)}$  is tangent to the ellipse at some point  $(m_0, y_0) = (m_0(q), y_0(q))$  in the upper part of  $\mathcal{E}$ , given by

$$y_0 = \frac{1}{K} \left( (1 - m_0)(h+1) + \sqrt{(1 - m_0)((1 - m_0)(h+1)^2 + m_0 K} \right) > 0$$

Suppose that we have proved that  $m_0(q)$  satisfies the conditions (5.2) and (5.3), then for a given  $p < p_0(q)$  any couple (y, m) with  $0 < y < y_0(q)$ ,  $y \neq 1$ , and  $m = m_0(q)$  will satisfy all the required conditions. Therefore it is sufficient to prove (5.2) and (5.3) in case  $m = m_0(q)$ .

*Remark.* If it happens that  $m_0 + 2 + h = 0$ , then we can take  $m = m_0 + \epsilon$  with  $\epsilon > 0$  small enough such that (m, y) stays in  $\mathcal{E}$ . We know from [5] that it happens precisely when N = 3 and h = 0. We will see below that it is the only case.

Next we compute  $m_0$ . We note here that the discriminant of  $p \mapsto G(p,h)$  is

$$\mathcal{H} = \left(Nh^2 - (N^2 + N - 1)h - N^2 - N + 2\right)^2 + 4Nh^2((N - 1)h + N - 2) > 0$$

and it can be written under the form  $\mathcal{H} = (Nh + N - 1)\mathcal{M}$ , where

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}(h) = Nh^3 - (2N^2 - N + 1)h^2 + (N^3 + 2N^2 - 2N - 4)h + (N - 1)(N + 2)^2.$$

Then  $p_0 = p_0(q)$  is given by

$$p_0 = \frac{-\left(Nh^2 - (N^2 + N - 1)h - N^2 - N + 2\right) + \sqrt{(Nh + N - 1)\mathcal{M}}}{2(N - 1)((N - 1)h + N - 2)}.$$
(5.6)

Since  $m_0$  is also the minimizer of the trinom  $m \mapsto \mathcal{T}(m)$ , it is expressed by

$$m_0 = b \frac{(N-1)(Ka-1-h)p_0 - h}{(N-1)Ka^2 - 2bh},$$

and we obtain, after some computation,

$$m_0 = \frac{Q_1(h) + (N-1)Q_2(h)p_0}{\mathcal{M}}$$

where

$$Q_1(h) = -2Nh((N+1)h + N + 2), \qquad (5.7)$$

and

$$Q_2(h) = Nh^3 - (N^2 - 3N + 1)h^2 - (N^2 - N + 4)h - 2(N - 2).$$
(5.8)

Replacing  $p_0$  by its value given in (5.6), we deduce after some simplifications that

$$2((N-1)h + N - 2)m_0\mathcal{M} = -(Nh^2 + (N+1)h + 2)\mathcal{M} + Q_2\sqrt{(Nh+N-1)\mathcal{M}}.$$

Hence

$$2((N-1)h + N - 2)m_0 = -P_1 + Q_2 \sqrt{\frac{Nh + N - 1}{\mathcal{M}}}$$
(5.9)

with

$$P_1(h) = Nh^2 + (N+1)h + 2$$

Note that  $m_0$  can be also obtained equivalently by expressing the fact that  $(m_0, y_0)$  belongs in the upper part of  $\mathcal{E}$  and the slope of its tangent here has value a.

*Remark.* When q = 0, we rediscover the values given in [5],

$$p_0 = \frac{N+2}{N-2}, \quad m_0 = -\frac{2}{N-2}, \quad y_0 = \frac{N}{N-2}.$$
 (5.10)

# **5.2** Proof that $m_0 < 0$ for $h \in [0, 2(N-1)]$

We present a proof which avoids the heavy computation of  $m_0$ . The point  $(m_0, y_0)$  belongs to the upper part of  $\mathcal{E}$ , where by concavity the slope  $m \mapsto y'(m)$  is a decreasing function. Hence, the claim will follow provided  $y'(m_0) = -a > y'(0)$ . We obtain directly  $y(0) = \frac{2(1+h)}{K}$  and

$$y'(0) \left[2Ky(0) - 2(1+h)\right] + 2(1+h)y(0) - 1 = 0,$$
$$\left|y'(0)\right| = \frac{1}{2(1+h)} \left(\frac{4(1+h)^2}{K} - 1\right);$$

hence, from (5.4),

$$(1+h)(|y'(0)| - a) = \frac{2(1+h)^2}{K} - \frac{1}{2} - a(1+h) = \frac{2(1+h)^2}{K} - (1 - \frac{bh}{N-1})$$
$$= \frac{2(1+h)^2}{K} - \frac{N+2+(N-1)h-h^2}{N+2+(N+1)h}.$$

It is therefore required that

$$2N(1+h)^{2}(N+2+(N+1)h) - (2+h)(Nh+N-1)(N+2+(N-1)h-h^{2})$$
  
= Nh<sup>4</sup> + (N<sup>2</sup> + 6N - 1)h<sup>3</sup> + (2N<sup>2</sup> + 12N - 3)h<sup>2</sup> + (N<sup>2</sup> + 9N)h + 2(N+2) > 0

which clearly holds.

# **5.3** Proof that $m_0 + 2 + h > 0$ for $h \in (0, 2(N-1)]$

From (5.9) the value of  $m_0 + 2 + h$  is given by

$$2((N-1)h + N - 2)(m_0 + 2 + h) = P_2(h) + Q_2(h)\sqrt{\frac{Nh + N - 1}{\mathcal{M}}},$$
(5.11)

with

$$P_2(h) = ((N-2)h^2 + (5N-9)h + 4N - 10,$$
(5.12)

and where we recall that

$$Q_2(h) = Nh^3 - (N^2 - 3N + 1)h^2 - (N^2 - N + 4)h - 2N - 4.$$

Note that  $P_2(h) > 0$  for any  $h \in [0, 2N - 2]$ . Then  $m_0 + 2 + h > 0$  as soon as  $Q_2(h) > 0$ . Since  $Q_2$  can be written under the form

$$Q_2(h) = (h+2)(Nh - N - 1)(h - N + 2) - 2N^2,$$

it is an increasing function of h on [N-2, 2N-2].

The case  $N \ge 4$ . Here  $Q_2(N-1) > 0$ , thus  $Q_2(h) > 0$  on [N-1, 2N-2]. Therefore it is sufficient to prove the assertion when  $h \in [0, N-1]$ . Our aim is to prove that there holds

$$P_2\sqrt{R} + Q_2 > 0$$
 where  $R = \frac{\mathcal{M}}{Nh + N - 1}$ 

in this interval. By division we obtain, since  $Nh + N - 1 < N^2 - 1$ ,

$$R = (N-h)^{2} + 6N + 2 - \frac{2(N+2)(N+1)}{N} + \frac{4(N-1)(2N+1)}{N(Nh+N-1)}$$
  

$$\geq (N-h)^{2} + 6N + 2 - \frac{2(N+2)(N+1)}{N} + \frac{4(2N+1)}{N(N+1)}$$
  

$$= (N-h)^{2} + 4(N-1) + \frac{4}{N+1}.$$
(5.13)

In particular  $\sqrt{R} \ge N - h$ , thus  $P_1 \sqrt{R} + Q_2 \ge S$  with

$$S(h) = (N-h)P_2 + Q_2 = 2h^3 - 4(N-2)h^2 + (4N^2 - 12N + 6)h + 4(N^2 - 3N - 1).$$

We see that S(0) > 0 because  $N \ge 4$ , and since

$$S'(h) = 6h^2 - 2(4N - 8)h + 4N^2 - 12N + 6 > 0$$

is positive for any  $h \in \mathbb{R}$ , S is an increasing function of h. This yields S(h) > 0 on  $h \in [0, N-1]$ and completes the proof in this case.

The case N = 3. Here we cannot use the minorization of R since equality holds for h = 0, as it was noticed above. Also, we observe that the cubic polynomial  $Q_2(h) = 3h^3 - h^2 - 10h - 10$  has its largest root  $h_0$  in the interval (2,3), since  $Q_2(2) = -10$  and  $Q_2(3) = 32$  and  $Q'_2(h) > 0$  on  $[2, \infty)$ . Hence we need only to prove the inequality when  $h \in (0,3)$ . For this aim, it is sufficient that  $P_2\sqrt{R} + Q_2 > 0$ , which will be ensured provided  $\mathcal{M}P_2^2 - (3h+2)Q_2^2 > 0$ . After some computation it reduces to prove that

$$h\left(-6\,h^{6}+5\,h^{5}+38\,h^{4}+35\,h^{3}+337\,h^{2}+484\,h+160\right)>0.$$

This inequality is clearly true, since  $6h^4 - 38h^2 - 337 < 0$  on (0,3). So finally  $m_0 + 2 + h > 0$  for any  $h \in (0,4]$ .

# 5.4 Proof that $\sigma > \frac{N}{2}$ for $N \ge 3$

We have to prove that for any  $h \in (0, 2(N-1)]$  there holds,

$$(m_0 + h + 2)(2N - 2 - h) > (N - 4 - h)((N - 1)(p_0 - 1) + h).$$
(5.14)

In the preceding step we have already shown that the left hand side is positive and that  $(N - 1)(p_0 - 1) + h) = (N - 1)(p + q - 1) > 0$ , inequality (5.14) is valid for N = 3, 4 or  $N \ge 5$  and  $h \in [N - 4, 2(N - 1)]$ . Henceforth we assume  $N \ge 5$  and  $h \in (0, N - 4)$ . By replacing the value of  $m_0(h) + h + 2$  given the preceding section and  $p_0$  by its value, given in (5.6), we obtain after some computation that the relation can be expressed under the form

$$Q_3\sqrt{R} + Q_4 > 0,$$

where

$$Q_3(h) = (2N-2)h^2 + (N^3 - 2N^2 + 10N - 6)h + N^3 - 3N^2 + 6N - 4),$$

and

$$Q_4(h) = (N^3 + 2N^2 - 6N - 2)h^2 - (N^4 - N^3 - 17N^2 + 12N + 8)h - (N - 1)(N^3 - 8N - 8).$$

From (5.13), we get

$$R \ge (N-h)^2 + 4(N-1) = (N-h)^2 \left(1 + \frac{4(N-1)}{(N-h)^2}\right)$$
$$\ge (N-h)^2 \left(1 + \frac{4(N-1)}{N^2}\right).$$

Setting  $\tau := \sqrt{1 + \frac{4(N-1)}{N^2}}$  , it is therefore sufficient that

$$Q_5 := \tau (N - h)Q_3 + Q_4 > 0.$$

An explicit computation yields

$$Q_{5}(h) = -2(N-1)\tau h^{3} + [(1-\tau)N^{3} + (4\tau+2)N^{2} - 6(2\tau+1)N + 6\tau - 2]h^{2} + [(\tau-1)N^{4} + (1-3\tau)N^{3} + (13\tau+17)N^{2} - 12(\tau+1)N + 4(\tau-2)]h + (\tau-1)N^{4} + (1-3\tau)N^{3} + (6\tau+8)N^{2} - 4\tau N - 8$$

The function  $Q_5$  is a cubic with a negative leading coefficient. We claim that it is positive for h = 0 and for h = N - 4 and increasing near 0. Indeed

$$Q_5(0) = (\tau - 1) N^4 + (1 - 3\tau) N^3 + (6\tau + 8) N^2 - 4\tau N - 8$$
  
= (N - 1)(\tau N(N^2 - 2N + 4) - (N^3 - 8N - 8)).

Since  $\tau^2 = \frac{N^2 + 4N - 4}{N^2}$ , the inequality  $Q_5(0) > 0$  is equivalent to

$$(N2 + 4N - 4)(N2 - 2N + 4)2 - (N3 - 8N - 8)2 > 0,$$

which can be easily verified since  $N \ge 5$ . Next

$$\begin{aligned} Q_5(N-4) &= \tau (4N^4 - 12N^3 - 12N^2 + 32N - 48) - 2N^4 + 8N^3 + 6N^2 - 40N - 8 \\ &> 2N^4 - 4N^3 - 6N^2 - 8N - 56 > 0 \end{aligned}$$

For the derivative, we compute

$$Q'_{5}(0) = (\tau - 1) N^{4} + (1 - 3\tau) N^{3} + (13\tau + 17) N^{2} - 12(\tau + 1) N + 4(\tau - 2)$$
  
=  $\tau (N^{4} - 3N^{3} + 13N^{2} - 12N + 4) - (N^{4} - N^{3} - 17N^{2} + 12N + 8).$ 

Replacing  $\tau$  by its value, the sign of  $Q_5'(0)$  is the same as the one of

$$(N^{2} + 4N - 4) (N^{4} - 3N^{3} + 13N^{2} - 12N + 4)^{2} - N^{2} (N^{4} - N^{3} - 17N^{2} + 12N + 8)^{2}$$

which is equal to

$$40N^8 + 4N^7 - 580N^6 + 1492N^5 - 1964N^4 + 2432N^3 - 1424N^2 + 448N - 64N^2 + 64N^2 +$$

and is clearly positive since  $N \ge 5$ . At end  $Q_5$  stays positive on [0, N-4] and the proof is achieved.

#### 5.5 Comparison of the regions of Theorem B and Theorem C

In the variable h := (N - 1)q these curves are given by

$$(N-1)p + h = N + 3$$
 for  $p > 1$ , (5.15)

$$(N-1)p + h = N - 1 + \frac{(p+1)^2}{p}$$
 for  $p \in [0,1].$  (5.16)

In order to show that the curve  $\tilde{G}(p,h) = 0$ , where  $\tilde{G}$  is defined at (5.5), is above them, we only need to show that  $\tilde{G}(p,h) < 0$  on the curves. For the first curve defined by (5.15), using that  $(h-2)(h-3) \ge -\frac{1}{4}$  for all h, we obtain that for  $h \in [0, 2(N-1)]$ ,

$$(N-1)G\left(\frac{N+3-h}{N-1},h\right) = -h^3 + 3h^2 - 4N + 4h - 12$$
$$= -(h+2)(h-2)(h-3) - 4N$$
$$\leq \frac{h+2}{4} - 4N$$
$$\leq \frac{N}{2} - 4N < 0.$$

As for the second curve, we check that

$$(N-1)\frac{p^2}{(p+1)^2}\tilde{G}\left(p,N-1+\frac{(p+1)^2}{p}-(N-1)p\right)$$
  
=  $-p(p-1)^2N^2 + (3p^3-2p^2-p-1)N - p^2(2p+1) < 0$ 

for  $p \in [0, 1]$ , because  $3p^3 - 2p^2 - p - 1)N - p^2(2p + 1) \le p^2 - p - 1 \le -1$ .

#### 5.6 Final remark about the parameter $\beta$

When we set  $u = v^{-\beta}$  then  $y = \frac{\beta+1}{\beta}$  a natural question is about the sign of  $\beta$ . We have seen that  $y_0 > 0$ , and when  $p < p_0$  we have chosen  $y = y_0$  if  $y_0 \neq 1$ , or  $y = y_0 - \epsilon$  in case  $y_0 = 1$  (or in the special case N = 3, where  $m_0 = -2$ , so we have taken  $m = -2 + \epsilon$ ). So either  $y_0 > 1$ ,  $\beta > 0$ ; or  $y_0 \leq 1$ ,  $\beta < 0$ . We can remark that for q = 0, we have  $\beta > 0$ , since  $y_0 = \frac{N}{N-2}$  from (5.10). But for q = 2 we find

$$p_0 = \frac{4}{2N-3} = -m_0, \qquad y_0 = \frac{2}{2N-3}$$

hence  $y_0 < 1$ , thus  $\beta < 0$ .

## References

- Abdel Hamid H., Bidaut-Véron M.F., On the connection between two quasilinear elliptic problems with lower terms of order 0 or 1. Comm. Contemp. Math. 12 (2010), 727-788.
- [2] Bidaut-Véron M. F. Local and global behavior of solutions of quasilinear equations of Emden-Fowler type. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. 107 (1989), 293-324.
- [3] Bidaut-Véron M. F., Garcia-Huidobro M., Véron L. Local and global behavior of solutions of quasilinear equations of Emden-Fowler type. Calc. Var. Part. Diff. Equ. 54 (2015), 3471-3515.
- [4] Bidaut-Véron M. F., Pohozaev S. Local and global behavior of solutions of quasilinear equations of Emden-Fowler type. Journal d'Analyse Mathématique 84 (2001), 1-49.

- [5] Bidaut-Véron M.F., Véron L. Nonlinear elliptic equations on Compact Riemannian manifolds and asymptotics of Emden equations. Invent. Math. 106 (1991), 489-539.
- [6] Brezis H., Lions P. L. A note on isolated singularities for linear elliptc equations. Math. Anal. Appl. Adv., Suppl. Stud. 7A (1981), 263-266.
- [7] Caristi G., Mitidieri E. Nonexistence of positive solutions of quasilinear equations. Adv. Diff. Equ. 2 (1997), 317-359.
- [8] Fillipucci R., Nonexistence of positive weak solutions of elliptic inequalities. Nonlinear Anal. 70 (2009), 2903-2916.
- [9] Fowler, R. H. Further studies on Emden's and similar differential equations. Quart. Jl. Math. 2 (1931), 259-288.
- [10] Gidas B., Spruck J., Global and local behaviour of positive solutions of nonlinear elliptic equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 34 (1981), 525-598.
- [11] Guedda M., Véron L., Local and Global Properties of Solutions of Quasilinear Elliptic Equations. J. Diff. Equ. 76 (1988), 159-189.
- [12] Lieberman G., The natural generalization of the natural conditions of Ladyzhenskaya and Uraltseva for elliptic equations, Comm. Part. Diff. Equ. 16 (1991), 311-361.
- [13] Licois J. R., Véron L., A class of nonlinear conservative elliptic equations in cylinders. Ann. Sc. Norm. Sup. Pisa, Cl. Sci. 26 (1998), 249-283.
- [14] Lions P. L., Résolution de problèmes elliptiques quasilinéaires. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 74 (1980), 335353.
- [15] Mitidieri E., Pohozaev S. A priori estimates and blow-up of solutions to nonlinear partial differential equations and inequalities, Trudy Matematicheskogo Instituta Imeni VA Steklova 234 (2001), pp. 1-383.
- [16] Serrin J., Local behavior of solutions of quasi-linear equations. Acta Math. 111 (1964), 247-302.
- [17] Serrin J., singularities of solutions of quasi-linear equations. Acta Math. 113 (1965), 219-240.
- [18] Smoller J., Schock Waves and Reaction Diffusion Equations. Grundlehren der Matematischen Wissenschaften 258 2nd ed. 68 (1994), xxi+pp.1-632.
- [19] Véron L., Local and global aspects of quasilinear degenerate elliptic equations. Quasilinear elliptic singular problems. World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., Hackensack, NJ (2017). xv+ pp. 1-457.